
AGENDA
MEETING VENUE:

Anglia Room, The 
Conference Suite, 

Elizabeth House, Dereham

Contact: Julie Britton
Direct Dial: 01362 656343
e-mail: julie.britton@breckland.gov.uk

Date: Wednesday, 16 January 2019

Dear Sir/Madam,

Members of the Council are hereby summoned to a Meeting of the District Council which 
will be held at 10.00 am on Thursday, 24th January, 2019 in the Anglia Room, The 
Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham

Yours faithfully

Anna Graves
Chief Executive

The Democratic Services Officer to call the roll of Members

Members of the Council requiring further information, or with specific 
questions, are asked to raise these with the appropriate officer at least 
two working days before the meeting.  If the information requested is 
available, this will be provided, and reported to Council.

THIS MEETING WILL BE RECORDED BY THE COUNCIL

Mobile phones and other equipment may also be used to audio record, film, tweet or 
blog from this meeting by an individual Council Member or a member of the public.  
No part of the meeting room is exempt from public filming etc unless the meeting 
resolves to go into private session.  However, the use of images or recordings arising 
from this is not under the Council’s control.  

Public Document Pack





Council
24 January 2019

Page(s)
herewith

1. APOLOGIES 
To receive apologies for absence.  

2. MINUTES 5 - 17
To confirm the Minutes of the meeting held on 6 December 2018.

3. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 
The duties to register, disclose and not to participate for the entire consideration 
of the matter, in respect of any matter in which a Member has a disclosable 
pecuniary interest are set out in Chapter 7 of the Localism Act 2011.  Members 
are also required to withdraw from the meeting room as stated in the Standing 
Orders of this Council.

4. CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 18 - 19

5. LEADER'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 
To receive a verbal update from Councillor Nunn, Leader of the Council.

6. QUESTIONS ON NOTICE UNDER STANDING ORDER NO 6 

7. QUESTIONS WITHOUT NOTICE UNDER STANDING ORDER NO 7 

8. CABINET MINUTES 20 - 24
Unconfirmed Minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 27 November 2018.

9. OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMISSION 25 - 30
Unconfirmed Minutes of the Overview and Scrutiny Commission meeting held 
on 13 December 2018.

10. PLANNING COMMITTEE 

a) 26 November 2018 31 - 40 

Confirmed Minutes of the Planning Committee meeting held on 26 
November 2018.

b) 17 December 2018 41 - 47 

Confirmed Minutes of the Planning Committee meeting held on 17 
December 2018.

11. GOVERNANCE & AUDIT COMMITTEE 48 - 54
Unconfirmed Minutes of the Governance and Audit Committee meeting held on 
14 December 2018.



Council
24 January 2019

Page(s)
herewith

12. SAFEGUARDING POLICY (FOR INFORMATION) 55 - 84
Executive Member for Place, Councillor Paul Claussen.

The Safeguarding Policy was approved at the Cabinet meeting on 27 November 
2018 where it was asked that the Policy be presented to Council for information.

13. CROXTON, BRETTENHAM & KILVERSTONE JOINT NEIGHBOURHOOD 
PLAN - MAKING (ADOPTION) OF THE CROXTON, BRETTENHAM & 
KILVERSTONE JOINT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 

85 - 89

Report of Councillor Gordon Bambridge, Executive Member for Growth.

Due to its size, the Neighbourhood Plan at Appendix A is attached as a separate 
document (see supplement). 

14. NOMINATIONS FOR COMMITTEE AND OTHER SEATS 
To receive nominations for any changes to Committee and other seats from 
political groups.

 Norfolk Countywide Community Safety Partnership Scrutiny Sub Panel – 
substitute required.

15. AMENDMENTS TO THE CONSTITUTION 

16. MARKET TOWNS PROGRAMME (FOR INFORMATION) 
Verbal report by Rob Walker, the Executive Director of Place.

17. ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE URGENT - 
NOTE: No other business is permitted unless by reason of special 

circumstances, which shall be specified in the minutes, the Chairman is 
of the opinion that the items(s) should be considered as a matter of 
urgency.

For Information
CHAIRMAN AND EXECUTIVE MEMBERS' SURGERY

At the end of the Council meeting, Chairmen of Committees and Executive 
Members will be available to members who wish to put forward specific 
questions, for example on ward issues.



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

COUNCIL

Held on Thursday, 6 December 2018 at 10.00 am in the
Anglia Room, The Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham

PRESENT
Mr T. J. Ashby
Mr S Askew
Mr S.G. Bambridge
Mr W.P. Borrett
Mr M. P. Brindle
Mr T. R. Carter
Mr H. E. J. Clarke
Mr P.D. Claussen
Mr J.P. Cowen
Mr D. M. Crawford
Mr P. R. W. Darby
Mr P. M. M. Dimoglou
Mr R.W. Duffield (Chairman)
Mr P.J. Duigan
Mr K.S. Gilbert
Councillor E. Gould
Mr P.J. Hewett
Mrs J. Hollis
Mr T. J. Jermy

Mr A.P. Joel
Mr R.G. Kybird
Mr K. Martin
Mrs S.M. Matthews
Mrs K. Millbank
Mr T. F. C. Monument
Mr M. J. Nairn
Mr J. Newton
Mr J.W. Nunn
Mr R. R. Richmond
Mr W. R. J. Richmond
Mr M. S. Robinson
Mr J.D. Rogers
Mr F.J. Sharpe
Mr I. Sherwood
Mr W.H.C. Smith
Mr M Taylor
Mrs A. M. Webb
Mr P. S. Wilkinson

In Attendance
Anna Graves - Chief Executive
Mark Stinson - Executive Manager Governance (Deputy 

Monitoring Officer)
Maxine O'Mahony - Executive Director of Strategy & 

Governance (Monitoring Officer)
Julie Britton - Democratic Services Officer

Action By
144/18 APOLOGIES (AGENDA ITEM 1) 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Bowes, Brame, Marion and 
Sam Chapman-Allen, Theresa Hewett, Linda Monument, Oliver, Stasiak, Turner, 
Wassell and Wilkin.

145/18 MINUTES (AGENDA ITEM 2) 

The Minutes of the meeting held on 25 October 2018 were confirmed as a correct 
record and signed by the Chairman.

146/18 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS (AGENDA ITEM 3) 

Councillor Paul Claussen declared a prejudicial and pecuniary interest in Agenda 
item 10, Minute No. 129/18 (i) of the Schedule of Applications as it was his 
application.

5

Agenda Item 2



Council
6 December 2018

2

Action By
147/18 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (AGENDA ITEM 4) 

The Chairman informed Members that Helen McAleer would be retiring on 19 
December 2018.     Helen had worked for Breckland Council for many years and on 
behalf of the Council he wished her all the very best for the future. 

The list of engagements attached to the agenda for both the Chairman and the 
Vice-Chairman were noted.

148/18 LEADER'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (AGENDA ITEM 5) 

The Leader provided Members with an update on the following matters:

Capita

The Leader was aware that a number of concerns had been raised in relation to 
Capita with regard to staffing matters and performance.  To reassure Members 
Simon Wood, the Interim Director of Planning and Building Control, would be 
invited to attend the next Full Council meeting to inform the Council how the 
service was moving forward.

Community Funding

The Leader was pleased to announce a number of projects that would benefit from 
funding from the new Community Reserve.  Funding totalling £6.15 million had 
been made available over a four year period to support a number of projects and 
initiatives in Breckland such as:

 up to £100,000 had been allocated to create a themed grant 
scheme based on improving social mobility;

 up to £50,000 (for each town) had been allocated to carry out a 
feasibility study to explore the option of developing a commercial 
leisure offer in Swaffham and Attleborough;

 up to £100,000 to be spent on transport to work schemes;
 up to £100,000 to create a grant scheme to help support local 

entrepreneurs; and 
 up to £50,000 to be spent on providing digital skills training to 

Breckland residents.

Waste & Recycling

It had been a long-standing ambition to bring together waste collection services 
from across Norfolk.  The Leader was therefore pleased to announce that 
Breckland Council had signed an inter-authority agreement with two other Norfolk 
Councils – Kings Lynn & West Norfolk Borough Council, and North Norfolk District 
Council.  This highlighted Breckland’s commitment to procuring waste/recycling 
services across the three areas from 2020 onwards.  This collaborative approach 
should benefit everyone with an improved service and economies of scale when 
the contract was let and should bring substantial savings going forward.

Employment Support Officers

Two people had been offered the above roles to start their employment with 
Breckland Council at the beginning of January 2019, subject to references.  Both 
had a great deal of experience working and developing apprenticeships in Norfolk 
and would be focussing on developing links between schools and businesses.

6



Council
6 December 2018

3

Action By

Norfolk Skills and Careers Festival

Breckland Council was sponsoring the public sector zone at the Festival which was 
taking place on 6/7 March 2019 at the Norfolk Show Ground.  The Employment 
Support Officers would be supporting the Breckland presence at the Festival and 
would be promoting Breckland as an employer of choice for local young people.

Leisure Feasibility Studies (Attleborough & Swaffham)

Max Associates had been appointed to conduct this piece of work for both 
locations.  They would be asking local people about other services they would like 
to see developed in the towns. A draft report was expected in January 2019 
followed by a final report in February 2019.

Young People Support Scheme 

The Council would have to go out to a full tender process due to the value of this 
project.  The documentation was being drawn up with a view to going out to market 
week commencing 10 December 2018 with the contract being awarded at the end 
of January, beginning of February 2019.

Transport to Work Schemes

Breckland Council had match funded the amount of £20k towards the Trip Starter 
project with the Local Enterprise Partnership and Department for Work and 
Pensions.  This project was looking at ways of supporting people with high needs 
that could not travel to work by themselves.  Further research was currently being 
undertaken into where best to target the remaining £80k.

Entrepreneurs/Dragons Den Scheme

Breckland Council was currently working with Norfolk Community Fund who were 
administering and designing the scheme on the Council’s behalf.  The application 
process would be open before Christmas and the Comms Team were currently 
working on how to promote this.  This project would be to encourage youngsters 
and new businesses to come forward.

Following his announcements, the Leader then wished everyone a very Happy 
Christmas.

Councillor Clarke referred to the Capita item and could not recall seeing anything 
being referred to the Overview & Scrutiny Commission as previously requested.  
Members were informed that this matter would be brought to the Overview & 
Scrutiny Commission in March 2019.

149/18 QUESTIONS ON NOTICE UNDER STANDING ORDER NO 6 (AGENDA ITEM 6) 

None.

150/18 QUESTIONS WITHOUT NOTICE UNDER STANDING ORDER NO 7 (AGENDA 
ITEM 7) 

Councillor Gilbert directed his question to the Leader.  He had recently read an 
article in the local press about Capita staff being based 450 miles away and that 
the contract was not making any savings.  He asked the Leader if he thought the 

7



Council
6 December 2018

4

Action By
article was fair and accurate and also asked whether the contract should be 
brought back in-house.  The Leader did not agree with the article and advised that 
this was about bringing pressure to bear with the contractor, not ending the 
contract.  Breckland Council was not alone; in fact, every authority in the Country 
was having difficulty in employing experienced Planners.  He was uncomfortable 
about staff being miles away but the Council was doing as much as it could to 
eliminate this and a Special Board meeting was being held with Capita in 
December 2018.  

Councillor Dimoglou posed the following questions to which he did not require a 
right of reply.  His questions were directed to the Leader.  

1) Forgive the history but this is even more relevant today, when you were due 
to take over as Leader of the Council my recollection was that there was 
serious disquiet amongst senior officers and some elected Members that 
they believed that you had an undisclosed personal connection to the 
people who sold Barnham Broom to the Council and that you were 
instrumental in persuading Councillors to vote blind to commit to spend 
£11m of what is effectively Breckland residents’ money on what was an 
asset that is outside of the District and in distress. In particular and if my 
memory serves me correctly, I remember a brief conversation with the Chief 
Executive, Anna Graves, who I believe said that Barnham Broom 
relationship had become problematic and that you would return as Leader 
as long as it took to right the ship. Now that you’ve succeeded in righting 
this ship to your satisfaction, will you fulfil the prophecy and resign as 
Leader of the Council. 

2) If the need for secrecy in relation to Barnham Broom is an attempt by senior 
members of the Council to protect their own reputations over and above the 
needs of the 135,000 residents, did you feel it appropriate to freely discuss 
this on 22 October 2018 with Ian Martin, of the NHP for Yaxham and other 
prospective but unelected District Councillors.

3) Will the Leader join me after Full Council in my lonely Councillor one person 
protest outside these Council offices demanding that senior officers of this 
Council be more open, honest and objective when writing reports so that 
Members can be fully informed about issues for consideration rather than 
being spoon fed the answers Senior Officers and Managers want to get 
back.

With regard to Barnham Broom, the Leader stated at the time of the purchase, he 
did not have any association with anything or anybody from Barnham Broom; he 
never had and never would have and had never played golf there.  It was a 
commercially sensitive deal when the Council bought it and it remained a 
commercial deal and that was his only interest in it in terms of getting any 
commercial return for the authority.  He believed that his personal reputation and 
integrity would not allow him to do anything else on any issue for this Council and 
indeed in his personal life. In regard to the accusation of, did he return as Leader to 
‘right the ship,’ no, not at all, he felt that the ‘ship’ was doing pretty well when he 
returned.  The Councillors continued to do some really good things and he was 
slightly saddened that the said Councillor had felt the need to attack both the 
Officers and indeed himself but recognised the Councillor’s position on this. In 
terms of Anna Graves, the Chief Executive, and the attack that had been made on 
Officers he allowed the Chief Executive to respond.  The Chief Executive reminded 
the said Member of the Council’s Constitution and the Code of Conduct that the 
Council had to adhere to and asked Councillor Dimoglou to provide evidence 

8



Council
6 December 2018

5

Action By
where he felt that this had been breached as she would be very interested to 
investigate that accusation.  The Council provided the best possible information to 
Members to enable them to make the right decisions.  Members also had a right to 
view all exempt information and like the Leader she was a little disappointed that 
this matter had been raised at this meeting rather than with her direct.

Councillor Brindle asked about small pieces of land that the Council was selling 
near to residents’ dwellings and wanted assurance that these residents were aware 
that this land was for sale and could purchase and retain it as open space or use it 
for car parking if they so wished.  In response the Leader advised that it made 
good sense to offer such land to the people who lived nearest to it but he was 
aware of the parking problems on these estates and would ask Officers and the 
relevant Portfolio Holder to work with Flagship to address these issues.

Councillor Jermy highlighted the fact that it had been reported recently that South 
Norfolk District Council had now reached 100% broadband cover and wanted to 
know why Breckland had not.  The Leader informed Members that he lived near 
the border of South Norfolk and some of his neighbours did not have good 
broadband cover.  This was incredibly difficult in the remote spots of Breckland and 
this Council was constantly pushing Government for additional funding to ensure 
the infrastructure was there for these isolated areas.

Councillor Clarke asked Councillor Bambridge, the Portfolio Holder for Growth and 
the Cabinet Member responsible for the Local Plan, whether there would be a 
specific review taking place for the Local Plan process going forward.  He also, as 
the Member who called in the Barnham Broom decision, made further comments in 
relation to private & confidential matters.   Councillor Bambridge was unable to 
comment as this was not within his Portfolio. In relation to the planning process, 
Members were informed that there would be a review and further details would be 
provided under agenda item 13.  He explained that the length of time in relation to 
the Local Plan was average for the whole Country.  He, himself, had attended over 
100 meetings including Parish meetings where the Local Plan had been discussed 
and although these modifications had delayed the process, Breckland’s Local Plan 
was expected to go live by June 2019; however, this was entirely in the hands of 
the Planning Inspector.  In response to an observation about it being more of a 
National Plan than a Local Plan, Councillor Bambridge advised that all Planning 
authorities had to comply with the National Planning Policy Framework.

Councillor Hollis raised concern about complaints that she had received in relation 
to the Key Select website.  Many residents had complained as the website was not 
working and therefore did not allow them to bid for housing.  This concern was 
directed to Councillor Bambridge.  In response, Councillor Bambridge advised that 
this was a national computer glitch but assured Members that no-one would be 
disadvantaged as there was an email address and a contact number that residents 
could use.  He asked Councillor Hollis to pass any specific concerns/incidences on 
to him and he would pass them through to the appropriate Officers.

Councillor Hollis also asked a question about empty MOD properties.    Councillor 
Bambridge said he would raise this matter again with Officers.

Councillor Gilbert directed his question to the Leader. He highlighted the Council’s 
Protocol on Officer/Member relations where it clearly stated that the Council would 
keep local members fully informed on all matters which affected their electoral 
wards. This had not happened in respect of some tree work that had been carried 
out in his Ward.  The Leader said that it would have been helpful to have been 
asked this question in advance of the meeting but he would take this matter up with 

9



Council
6 December 2018

6

Action By
the Officer concerned.

Councillor Borrett asked the Leader if he shared his surprise about the earlier 
comments made in relation to commercial decisions being considered in exempt 
session and mentioned a Labour Council which had bought a commercial asset.  
The Leader emphasised the need for confidentiality in commercially sensitive 
matters and would continue to defend that process going forward.

Councillor Crawford asked the Leader a question in relation to the Council’s 
digitalisation programme.  He had not been able to find what he was looking for 
and when he tried to contact the relevant Officer to discuss the issue, it had been 
difficult to find the Council’s main contact number on the website.  The Leader was 
surprised that it could not be found but he would look into this matter.  Councillor 
Robinson, the Portfolio Holder for Governance pointed out that a simple google 
search brought up all options on how to contact the Council.  Councillor Jermy 
stated that a list of all contact telephone number could be found on the back page 
of Breckland Council’s residents’ magazine.

Councillor Wilkinson directed his question to the Leader.  He wanted to know if the 
£900k that the Council had put aside for broadband had been drawn down by BT.  
He was asking the question as he knew of many pupils that were unable to do their 
homework on-line. Members were informed that it was Norfolk County Council’s 
responsibility to draw down this money.

Councillor Richmond thanked the Leader for attending the previous Town & Parish 
Council Forum.  He believed the next one was being held sometime in February 
2019 but as yet had not been confirmed.

151/18 CABINET MINUTES (AGENDA ITEM 8) 

1) ICT & Digital Strategy (Minute No. 107/18)

RESOLVED that:

a) the draft ICT and Digital Strategy be approved and implemented 
from April 2019 to align with the Council’s new Corporate Plan; and

b) the Digital Work Programme associated with the Strategy be 
approved, and the necessary funding be transferred as detailed in 
the Proforma B from Moving Forward (transformation) and Growth 
and Investment Reserves.

2) Neighbourhood Planning – Transfer of Service (Minute No. 118/18)

RESOLVED that Option 1, as highlighted in the Cabinet report, be 
approved.

3) Adoption

RESOLVED that the confirmed Minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 16 
October 2018 be adopted.

152/18 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMISSION (AGENDA ITEM 9) 

1) Member/Officer Protocol (Minute No. 26/18)

10



Council
6 December 2018

7

Action By
This recommendation was dealt with under Agenda item 16 (see Minute 
No. 158/18 below).

2) Adoption

RESOLVED that the unconfirmed Minutes of the Overview & Scrutiny 
Commission meeting held on 8 November 2018 be adopted.

153/18 PLANNING COMMITTEE (AGENDA ITEM 10) 

See declaration of interest at Minute No. 146/18 above.

RESOLVED that the confirmed Minutes of the Planning Committee meeting held 
on 29 October 2018 be adopted.

154/18 LICENSING COMMITTEE (AGENDA ITEM 11) 

RESOLVED that the unconfirmed Minutes of the Licensing Committee meeting 
held on 21 November 2018 be adopted.

155/18 COMMITTEE OF THE LICENSING AUTHORITY (AGENDA ITEM 12) 

1) Gambling Act Policy (Minute No. 21/18)

This recommendation was dealt with under Agenda item 19 (see Minute 
No. 161/18 below).

2) Adoption

RESOLVED that the unconfirmed Minutes of the Committee of the 
Licensing Authority meeting held on 21 November 2018 be adopted.

156/18 LOCAL PLAN - MAIN MODIFICATIONS (AGENDA ITEM 13) 

Councillor Gordon Bambridge, the Portfolio Holder for Growth presented the report.

He informed Members that the Council had agreed to sign-off the proposed 
Submission version of the Local Plan on 27 July 2017 for its final pre-submission 
publication (6 week consultation) and submission for Examination in Public. The 
Council delegated agreement of modifications during the Examination to Officers in 
consultation with the Leader and Portfolio Holder. 

The Local Plan had been in Examination during the summer and, during the course 
of the Hearings the Inspector had requested a number of modifications be made to 
the Plan to ensure that it could be found sound. The full list of modifications had 
been set out in Appendix A to the report. 

The vast majority of these modifications were relatively minor and uncontroversial 
and in many cases, helpful to the Council. However, in some areas these 
modifications were more significant. Councillor Bambridge highlighted the 
significant modifications (as below):

 Use of an alternative method of calculating the housing land supply (the 
‘Sedgefield method’) – this had the effect of increasing the housing 
requirement in the next 5 years as any backlog built up had to be dealt with 
more quickly;

11



Council
6 December 2018

8

Action By
 An early review of the Plan to consider the housing numbers, employment 

policies and gypsies and travellers; and 
 Changes to the Council’s proposed rural housing policies (HOU4 and 5).

In light of these significant modifications, he felt it to be appropriate not to utilise the 
delegation, and that the matter be brought back to Full Council for Members’ 
consideration.

There were three options available to Members and the report set out the potential 
implications of each option, based on both planning advice and separate legal 
advice. 

Option 1 was for Members to agree the modifications and in doing so, would result 
in a six week consultation process to begin in the New Year; this would allow the 
examination to progress. 

Option 1 would allow the Council to progress with the Examination leading to 
having an adopted and up to date Plan, including new land allocations, to assist 
with day-to-day decision making.

The detriment of this option was that there would be a need to move forward with 
an early review of the Plan in an ambitious timeframe. This would also include 
policies where there could be wording introduced by the Inspector that the Council 
would have preferred not to have included.

Option 1b was essentially as Option 1, but this option sought to reopen the Hearing 
sessions to allow further discussion to take place on the modifications to the rural 
housing policies. 

Option 1b would allow a proper consideration of the amended text of the rural 
housing policies to take place.  However, legal advice had confirmed that this was 
unlikely to be accepted by the Inspector as there was no guarantee of a different 
outcome. This approach would extend the Examination with the likely result that 
other areas of the Plan would need to be updated - potentially adding further delay 
to progress the Plan.

Option 2 was to not agree to the modifications; this would mean that the Plan 
would be found unsound and would need to be withdrawn.  This option was not 
recommended as, although the Council would still have policies in place through 
the existing Local Development Framework, these policies were either out of date 
or very dated.  This option would not allow the Council to have a set of up to date 
policies for use by the Planning Committee or provide new residential allocations to 
include within the Council’s land supply. It would also leave other key sites such as 
Snetterton Heath without a confirmed allocation of land for growth, potentially 
harming growth of a key site on the A11 corridor. This approach would also result 
in the Council having greater reliance on National Policy rather than its own locally 
developed policies.

Councillor Bambridge pointed out that whilst there were pro’s and con’s associated 
with each option, in his opinion, Option 1a was the one that should be approved 
and he urged Members to support it. 

Councillor Borrett congratulated all Members and Officers who had been involved 
in the preparation of the Local Plan.  Many meetings had been held and had 
attracted a great deal of local support. However, he had been very disappointed 
that the Inspector had altered the Plan particularly in relation to Policy HOU5 on 

12



Council
6 December 2018

9

Action By
page 38 of the Appendix where much of the criteria that had previously been 
agreed by all involved, had been removed. He urged Members to support this 
Local Plan and commended Option 1a to the Council but he stressed the need to 
engage in the consultation process and inform the Inspector of the damage that 
could be done if Policy HOU5 remained as amended.

Councillor Clarke said that he would be endorsing Option1a and he had, with some 
reservation, agreed with Councillor Borrett’s remarks.  However, he felt that the 
affordable housing data needed to be refreshed and the localism agenda should be 
taken into account when delivering sustainable transport and economic growth.  
Councillor Bambridge agreed and would continue to press this matter forward.  He 
would also ensure that the Housing data was refreshed.

Councillor Gilbert also supported Councillor Borrett’s comments and he too was 
disappointed that all the work that had gone into these policies had been ignored 
by a Government Inspector.

Councillor Kybird pointed out that in order for a Plan to be found sound it needed to 
be correct.

Councillor Jermy asked if it was normal to receive this number of modifications.  
Councillor Bambridge understood that Breckland’s modifications were roughly in-
line with others.  He also agreed with the fact that a great deal of time had been 
invested in getting Policies HOU4 and HOU5 right for Breckland and although this 
was going to be difficult, he urged Members not to give up.

Councillor Joel, also in support of Councillor Borrett’s comments, felt that housing 
was very important and was different in Norfolk compared to many other counties.  
He asked when the consultation was likely to take place, if Option 1a was agreed. 

Councillor Carter drew attention to page 55, section 2.4 of the report as it did not 
make sense.  It was agreed that the word ‘to’ should be added after the word 
‘ability’ and the word ‘producing’ be amended to ‘produce’.

The Leader asked how the consultation was going to be carried out.  Stephen 
Ottewell, the Director of Planning & Building Control, advised that, if Members were 
mindful to approve Option 1a, there would be a formal six week consultation 
process starting early in the New Year.  Correspondence would be sent out to all 
town and parish councils and relevant stakeholders and would also be extensively 
advertised.  

RESOLVED that Option 1a of the report be endorsed, the modifications be 
accepted, and consultation on the main modifications be progressed.

157/18 COMMUNITY GOVERNANCE REVIEWS CARBROOKE AND GREAT 
ELLINGHAM AND THETFORD (AGENDA ITEM 14) 

Councillor Mark Robinson, the Portfolio Holder for Governance, presented the 
report which asked Members to consider and approve the recommendations from 
the Community Governance Sub-Committee for the parishes of Carbrooke, Great 
Ellingham and Thetford.

He thanked Members and Officers for all their hard work including Parish 
Councillors.

Councillor Gould did not support the name being proposed for the new Thetford 

13



Council
6 December 2018

10

Action By
Parish Ward and accordingly proposed that it be called the ‘Iceni’ Ward.  Councillor 
Kybird agreed as there was no known Saxon remains in that part of Thetford so 
historically it was incorrect.  Councillor Jermy was pleased to support this 
amendment as naming it the New Saxon Ward was illogical and there was a great 
deal of historical data still available on the internet from the former Saxon Ward 
which would be confusing for residents.  Councillor Newton knew of many 
companies who used the name of Iceni that could cause some confusion and felt 
that the original proposal should remain and due regard should be paid to the 
public consultation.   Councillor Brindle stated that he had the opportunity to 
consult with the Croxton Road Group who had supported the idea of Iceni.

It was proposed and seconded that the new Thetford Parish Ward be named the 
‘Iceni’ Ward.

RESOLVED that:

1. the number of Parish Councillors for Carbrooke Parish Council be 
increased from 7 to 9;

2. the boundary of the Parish of Great Ellingham be altered to extend to the 
southern boundary of the Parish of Great Ellingham to meet the natural 
boundary provided by the A11 which currently lies within the Parish of 
Attleborough (Queens and Besthorpe Ward) (as shown on Appendix A to 
the report); and

3. that:

(a) the Parish boundary for Thetford be extended to include all the land 
to the south of the A11 and west of the A1075 currently in the Parish 
of Croxton, with the boundary between Croxton and Kilverstone 
remaining unchanged (as shown at Appendix B to the report); 

(b) an additional two Councillors for Thetford for the new Parish Ward 
be approved; and

(c) the new Parish Ward be named the ‘Iceni’ Ward.

158/18 CHANGE OF PARISH NAME (AGENDA ITEM 15) 

Mark Stinson, the Executive Manager - Governance presented the report that 
asked Members to consider a change of name for the Parish of Garvestone.

Members were informed that a request had been received from the Parish Council 
of Garvestone to formalise a change in the name of the Parish under the Local 
Government Act 1972, Part IV, Section 75.  It was noted that the Parish had, for 
some time, operated informally under the name of Garvestone, Reymerston and 
Thuxton and that no consultation was required.

RESOLVED that:

1. receipt of the request from Garvestone Parish Council to change the name 
of the Parish be noted;

2. the name of the Parish be changed to Garvestone, Reymerston and 
Thuxton;

14



Council
6 December 2018

11

Action By
3. the Council make an Order to be effective immediately; and

4. the making of future section 75 Orders be delegated to the Executive 
Director of Strategy & Governance.

159/18 MEMBER / OFFICER PROTOCOL (AGENDA ITEM 16) 

Mark Stinson, the Executive Manager - Governance presented the report.  

Members were being asked to consider the updated Protocol on Member/Officer 
relations at Part 5B of the Constitution.  It was noted that the Protocol had not been 
subject to a full review since 2006.  Executive Members had been consulted and 
the Protocol had also been considered by the Overview & Scrutiny Commission.

Councillor Smith queried Section 12 of the Protocol, under Arbitration and it was 
proposed and seconded that this section should be amended to read:

“When necessary, the Executive Directors will arbitrate on the interpretation of the 
Protocol following consultation with the Leader of the Council and the Monitoring 
Officer.

RESOLVED that subject to the aforementioned amendment, the revised 
Member/Officer Protocol be approved for inclusion in the Constitution.

160/18 A REPORT CONCERNING THE RESOURCING OF THE COUNCIL'S HOUSING 
STRATEGY AND 'ENABLING' SERVICE (AGENDA ITEM 17) 

Councillor Bambridge, the Portfolio Holder for Growth presented the report.

He explained that the Council’s Housing Strategy and Enabling Service was a 
small but important team which covered a number of functions in relation to 
housing delivery, policy development and research.  For a number of years the 
Council had worked in collaboration with a neighbouring authority to deliver this 
function.  This had been a successful arrangement, and had led to a number of 
notable successes (listed within the report).  However, due to the circumstances 
set out in the report, there was a need to revisit the Council’s delivery model for this 
important function. 

Members’ approval was sought for the creation of a Housing Strategy and 
Development Officer as a means of providing continuity in service delivery 
following the cessation of the Council’s current arrangement with colleagues at 
Kings Lynn and West Norfolk. This post, if created, would play a key role in 
continuing efforts in respect of a wide range of corporately important work in 
relation to housing. This would include:
 

o Working with developers and housing associations to enable the 
delivery of new affordable housing;

o Undertaking research to inform the Council’s understanding of 
housing needs and demands of residents, now and into the future; 

o Working on key areas of corporate importance, including: 

 Working with parishes to support the delivery of rural 
affordable housing;

 Supporting the Strategic Property and Operational Assets 

15



Council
6 December 2018

12

Action By
Team in bringing forward Council land for development;

 Developing the Council’s approach to matters such as 
custom and self-build housing; and

 Leading on ambitions to invest in new temporary 
accommodation so that the needs of homeless households 
could be met.

This work would play a key role in helping the authority to: 

o meet the current and future housing needs of its residents; and 
o support the district and the authority in delivering the benefits of 

housing growth.

Councillor Bambridge recommended the report and its recommendation to 
Members for approval.

Councillor Jermy drew attention to section 4.2 of the report (page 79) as he felt that 
the demand now was even greater than in 2015 and asked if 1FTE would be 
enough.  In response, Councillor Bambridge assured Members that it would, and 
there was an improved Management Structure that sat behind it.

RESOLVED that, in response to the change to the current delivery model for the 
Council’s Housing Strategy and Enabling Service, the role of Housing Strategy and 
Development Officer (1FTE) be created within the Council’s permanent staffing 
establishment.

161/18 A REPORT CONCERNING THE CREATION OF AN EXTERNAL FUNDING 
OFFICER POST (AGENDA ITEM 18) 

In the absence of the Deputy Leader, Councillor Phil Cowen, Portfolio Holder for 
Finance presented the report.

The report sought Members’ approval to create a shared External Funding Officer 
post as a means of supporting the Council’s activity in relation to identifying, 
applying for and securing external funding to support delivery of key Council 
objectives.

It was noted that the post would be shared with South Holland District Council.

RESOLVED that the creation of a new shared External Funding Officer post, with a 
view to pursuing the delivery of the expected benefits as captured within the main 
report, be approved.

162/18 REVISED GAMBLING ACT STATEMENT OF PRINCIPLES (AGENDA ITEM 19) 

Councillor Alison Webb, the Portfolio Holder for People & Information, presented 
the report and asked Members to consider and approve the Council’s revised 
Gambling Policy (Statement of Principles).

The Statement had to be reviewed every three years; therefore, since the current 
Statement took effect in January 2016, the required process had to be completed 
by the end of 2018.

Members were asked to note that the recommendation was incorrect; it was Full 
Council that had to approve the proposed Gambling Policy and not the Overview & 
Scrutiny Commission.

16



Council
6 December 2018

13

Action By

RESOLVED that the revised Gambling Policy (Statement of Principles) as shown 
at Appendix A of the report be approved. 

163/18 AMENDMENTS TO THE CONSTITUTION (IF ANY) (AGENDA ITEM 20) 

None.

164/18 ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE URGENT (IF 
ANY) (AGENDA ITEM 21) 

None.

165/18 NOMINATIONS FOR COMMITTEE AND OTHER SEATS (AGENDA ITEM 22) 

No nominations were put forward.

The meeting closed at 11.20 am

CHAIRMAN

17



Engagement List – Chairman

6 December 2018 – 23 January 2019

Date Event Host

7 December 2018 Yuletide Winter Reception Colonel & Mrs William L Marshall 
Commander, 48th Fighter Wing 

Colonel & Mrs Christopher R Amrhein 
Commander, 100th Aircraft Refuelling Wing

 Colonel & Mrs Matthew D Smith 
Commander, 352nd Special Operations 

Wing

 RAF Lakenheath

18

A
genda Item

 4



Engagement List – Vice-Chair

6 December 2018 – 23 January 2019

Date Event Host

19



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

CABINET

Held on Tuesday, 27 November 2018 at 10.00 am in
Watton Town Hall, Middle St, Watton, Thetford IP25 6AG

PRESENT
Mr J.W. Nunn (Chairman)
Mr S. H. Chapman-Allen (Vice-
Chairman)
Mr S.G. Bambridge
Mr P.D. Claussen

Mr J.P. Cowen
Mr M. S. Robinson
Mr A.C. Stasiak

Also Present
Mr W.P. Borrett
Councillor C. Bowes
Councillor M. Chapman-Allen
Mr D. M. Crawford
Mr K.S. Gilbert

Mr A.P. Joel
Mr K. Martin
Mr J. Newton
Mr M. A. Wassell
Mr P. S. Wilkinson

In Attendance
Ross Bangs - Corporate Improvement & Performance Manager 

(shared)
Alison Chubbock - Chief Accountant (Deputy Section 151 Officer) 

(BDC)
Anna Graves - Chief Executive
Christine Marshall - Executive Director Commercialisation (S151 

Officer)
Maxine O'Mahony - Executive Director of Strategy & Governance 

(Monitoring Officer)
Rob Walker - Executive Director Place
Sarah Wolstenholme-Smy - Legal Services Manager (Deputy Monitoring Officer 

BDC)
Teresa Smith - Democratic Services Team Leader

Action By

120/18 MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on 16 October 2018, together with the 
exempt minutes were confirmed as a correct record and signed by the 
Chairman. 

121/18 APOLOGIES 

An apology was received from Councillor Webb. 

122/18 URGENT BUSINESS 

None.

Public Document Pack

20

Agenda Item 8



Cabinet
27 November 2018

2

Action By

123/18 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

None. 

124/18 NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING 

Councillors Borrett, Bowes, Marion Chapman-Allen, Crawford, Gilbert, Joel, 
Martin, Newton, Wassell and Wilkinson.

125/18 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY) 

None.

126/18 BRECKLAND COMMUNITY FUNDING APPLICATIONS (STANDING 
ITEM) 

Nothing to report.

127/18 SAFEGUARDING POLICY 

The Executive Member for Place introduced the report to Members and the 
Legal Services Manager provided detail to Members.

Overview and Scrutiny Commission had asked that ‘Honour Based Violence’ 
term be investigated as to whether it was the correct terminology.  It was 
confirmed that the term was still relevant and used by various Safeguarding 
Boards. 

Reasons for Recommendation
Under section 11 of the Children Act the Council have a duty to ensure our 
functions are discharged having regard to the need to safeguard and promote 
the welfare of children.

The Care Act 2014 required Breckland to work with other agencies to prevent 
and stop the risk and experience of abuse or neglect, and ensure that adult’s 
wellbeing was promoted.

A policy was an essential part of meeting the requirements and would be 
criticised by the Children and Adults Safeguarding Boards for failing to adopt 
and follow such a policy. 

It was therefore recommended that the attached policy is considered and 
approved by Cabinet.

Options
1. Consider the report and attached policy and agree the 

recommendations.
2. Do nothing

RESOLVED that:

1. the Safeguarding Policy be approved and adopted; and 

2. delegated authority be given to the Executive Director for Strategy and 
Governance in consultation with the Executive Member for Place to 

21



Cabinet
27 November 2018

3

Action By

make minor amendments to the policy.

128/18 QUARTER 2 FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE REPORT 2018-19 

The Executive Member for Finance presented the Quarter 2 financial Report 
that provided information on the forecast full year financial position as at 30 
September 2018 and progress on the Moving Transformation Forward 
programme. 

The full year impact based on current projections and assumptions was an 
overall forecast of above budget spends of £380k at the year end.

The report was noted.

129/18 LOCAL COUNCIL TAX DISCOUNT FOR CARE LEAVERS 

The Executive Member for Place said the report had set out a proposal for a 
full local Council Tax discount for care leavers aged between 18 and 25 years 
who were sole responsible for payment of the bill or who occupy a property 
with other adult care leavers aged up to 25.

The Executive Member for Governance was pleased to see the report and felt 
it was very important to support a young person at a key stage of their life.

Reasons for Recommendation
By granting a 100% discount on Council Tax for the first few years of 
independent living, the Council would be providing financial assistance of 
great value to care leavers at a very vulnerable stage in their transition from 
care.

The Council can decide to award a discount in accordance with their powers 
under section 13A of The Local Government Finance Act 1992.  This discount 
would be fully supported by Norfolk County Council and Norfolk Police & 
Crime Commissioner.

Options
1. That a Local Council Tax discount for Care Leavers is approved as 

per the Policy at Appendix 1 and; Recommend to Full Council the 
Policy at appendix 1 is adopted from 1 April 2019.

2. The Council could decide not to award the discount.

RESOLVED that the Local Council Tax discount for Care Leavers as per the 
Policy at Appendix one of the report be approved.

RECOMMEND to FULL COUNCIL that the Policy at Appendix 1 of the report 
be adopted from 1 April 2019.

130/18 NORFOLK STRATEGIC INFRASTRUCTURE DELIVERY PLAN REFRESH 
2018 

The Executive Member for Growth outlined the infrastructure delivery plan 
that covered Norfolk.  A list of the projects had been compiled in partnership 
with a range of stakeholders and aligned with County Council priority for 
improved infrastructure.

22



Cabinet
27 November 2018

4

Action By

Councillor Borrett highlighted the public consultation on the Norwich Western 
link being led by Norfolk County Council from November 2018 to January 
2019, and urged Members to respond to the consultation.  Breckland Council 
would also be submitting a formal response.

Reasons for Recommendation
It was recommended that Members endorse Option 1 to provide support for 
the NSIDP as an iterative supporting document to the wider approach to 
infrastructure coordination across the County.  

Endorsing option 1 would also help Norfolk County Council and its local 
partners to co-ordinate implementation, prioritise activity and respond to any 
funding opportunities that arise.

Options
1. Members endorse the SIDP as an iterative document highlighting 

wider strategic infrastructure projects across the County 
(recommended).

2. Members do not endorse the SIDP.

RESOLVED that the production of the Norfolk Strategic Infrastructure 
Delivery Plan, together with its annual review and endorse the strategic and 
inclusive approach to infrastructure planning be supported.

131/18 DRAFT BUDGET, MEDIUM TERM PLAN AND CAPITAL STRATEGY 
2019-20 

The Executive Member for Finance informed Members that the report 
outlined the draft budget and the proposed council tax increase of £4.95 per 
year for the forthcoming 2019-2020 financial year which would be used as a 
consultation document to the appropriate stakeholders, including the 
Overview and Scrutiny Commission.  Despite the unprecedented challenges 
the Council remained in a secure financial position across the medium term 
with no dependency on reserves.

Reasons for Recommendation
To comply with budgetary and policy framework and allow consultation with 
Members.

Options
That the draft capital and revenue budget estimates, the draft medium term 
financial plan and the draft capital strategy be reviewed.

RESOLVED that the draft capital and revenue budget estimates, the draft 
medium term financial plan and the draft capital strategy be reviewed, in 
preparation for the final budget setting in 2019.

132/18 Q2 2018-19 PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW REPORT 

The Deputy Leader and Executive Member for Corporate Strategy and 
Investment explained that the report had been to the Overview and Scrutiny 
Commission where concerns had been raised with regard to staff turnover.  
The HR Manager gave Members of the Commission reassurance that there 
were no real concerns, but had asked the Commission to provide more detail.

23



Cabinet
27 November 2018

5

Action By

Whilst there had been a spike in the number of reported fly-tipping cases, it 
was due to a concerted effort in the way information had been reported.

The Breckland Lottery was reported as doing well and Members were asked 
to champion the project back into their communities as 60p out of every £1 
went to the charity.

Councillor Wassell asked why there had been a spike in fly-tipping and if it 
was as a result of the new charges by Norfolk County Council.  The Task and 
Finish Group were looking at the detail on fly-tipping and it was hoped that 
more information would be available in the new year.

It was RESOLVED that the proposed changes to the staff turnover 
performance targets were agreed.

The contents of the report were noted.

133/18 NEXT MEETING 

The arrangements for the next meeting on Tuesday 8 January 2019 at 
9.30am in the Norfolk Room, Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke Dereham were 
noted.

The meeting closed at 10.35 am

CHAIRMAN

24



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMISSION

Held on Thursday, 13 December 2018 at 2.00 pm in the
Anglia Room, The Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, Dereham

PRESENT
Councillor E. Gould (Chairman)
Mr P. M. M. Dimoglou
Mr D. M. Crawford
Mrs T. Hewett
Mr T. J. Jermy
Mr A.P. Joel

Mr R.G. Kybird
Mrs S.M. Matthews
Mr M. J. Nairn
Mr R. R. Richmond
Mr P. S. Wilkinson (Substitute Member)

Also Present
Mr S.G. Bambridge
Mr H. E. J. Clarke

Mr J. Newton
Mrs A. M. Webb

In Attendance
Ross Bangs - Corporate Improvement & Performance 

Manager (shared)
Alison Chubbock - Chief Accountant (Deputy Section 151 

Officer) (BDC)
Maxine O'Mahony - Executive Director of Strategy & 

Governance (Monitoring Officer)
Greg Pearson - Senior Policy Advisor
Teresa Smith - Democratic Services Team Leader

Action By
137/18 MINUTES 

Safeguarding Policy (min Ref: 123/18)
Councillor Dimoglou asked if the term ‘Honour Based Crime’ was the 
best terminology to use. He thought it had been agreed by the 
Commission it would be looked at, however when the policy was 
presented to Cabinet it still made reference to the term.  
The Executive Director for Governance confirmed that the Legal 
Services Manager had reviewed the terminology used at the request of 
the Commission however it was still relevant within organisations.  
Councillor Nairn explained that the term had come about as a result of 
Police enquiries in that it was referring to a specific crime which was in 
accordance with their traditions but not in accordance with local law.

It was agreed that the term ‘Honour Based Crime’ would be kept under 
review.  

Amendments to Breckland Housing Allocations (Min ref: 124/18)
Councillor Wilkinson clarified that his comment under this item was 
referring to a specific local lettings agreement he had under a S106 
agreement, and was not across the board as implied. 

The minutes, together with the exempt minutes of the meeting held on 
the 8 November 2018 were confirmed as a correct record and signed by 
the Chairman.

25

Agenda Item 9



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
13 December 2018

2

Action By
138/18 APOLOGIES AND SUBSTITUTES 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Brame and 
Oliver.  Councillor Wilkinson was present as a substitute for Councillor 
Brame.

139/18 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY) 

None.

140/18 URGENT BUSINESS 

None.

141/18 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

None.

142/18 NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING 

Councillors Bambridge, Clarke, Newton and Webb were present.

143/18 CORPORATE PLAN 2019-2023 

The Senior Policy Advisor presented the draft thoughts of the Corporate 
Plan for the next four years (2019 – 2023) for Members of the 
Commission to suggest comments and amendments before the final 
draft version of the Corporate Plan would be presented to full Council in 
February 2019.

The Corporate Plan aimed to set the ambition of the Council under the 
following themes - Your Place; Your health and Wellbeing; Your 
Opportunity, and an internal priority of Our Council, with a number of 
critical activities that underpinned the themes.

Councillor Kybird asked the Military Covenant that the Council had 
recently signed up to be included in the Plan.  He also highlighted there 
was no mention of Mental Health as a target area and the Council 
should consider how it would protect the vulnerable.

Councillor Jermy asked for clarification on the process of the plan and if 
there would be an opportunity to refresh bearing in mind the Local 
Elections in May 2019.  He went onto ask that the critical activity 
referring to the Market Towns ensured Breckland created vibrant town 
centres with a strong retail offer.  He also asked for the point on the 
Community Reserve to identify the benefit to the targeted need.  He 
also asked that whilst Breckland worked to prevent homelessness it 
emphasised on how the Council effectively deals with homelessness. 
He also suggested that Council had been working hard to improve 
social mobility and therefore should be included within the Plan.

The Chairman confirmed there would be an opportunity to refresh the 
Corporate Plan on a yearly basis.

A number of points were raised against each critical activity for the 
Senior Policy Advisor to amend.

26



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
13 December 2018

3

Action By

The Chairman suggested the plan be considered by other areas for 
sense checking.  The Senior Policy Advisor said that the plan would be 
checked with the Communications Team as well as some user testing 
to gain further input.

Councillor Wilkinson referred to the Norfolk Sustainable Transformation 
Programme would affect more than one District, not just Breckland.  

Councillor Richmond asked if there were plans to plant wooded areas.  
The Executive Director for Governance said that whilst there were no 
plans community groups had access to the community grant scheme 
should they wish to do this.

144/18 DRAFT BUDGET, MEDIUM TERM PLAN AND CAPITAL STRATEGY 
2019-20 

The Executive Member for Finance had given his apologies, however 
asked the Chairman of the Commission to present his points that were 
covered by the Chief Accountant’s presentation.  Members were asked 
to note that this was the final year of the Government’s four year 
settlement that would therefore lead to unprecedented levels of change 
planned for 2020-21 going forward.

The Chief Accountant gave Members a detailed presentation of the 
draft budget to cover the salient points.  The public budget consultation 
process had begun and would end on the 1 January 2019.  The 
information for the provisional settlement had been announced that 
morning, and highlights for Breckland included:

 no change to the New Homes Bonus which meant that there 
would be an additional £70,000 into the Communities reserves 
for Breckland than previously outlined;

 Norfolk had been successful in its bid for the National Non-
Domestic Rates pilot for 2019-2020, which would need to be 
built into the budgets;

 The referendum limits were unchanged for District Authorities. 

The Budget had been based on a number of key assumptions including 
no reliance on the New Homes Bonus and the Revenue Support Grant.  
The budget assumed the Council Tax would rise the full amount of 
£4.95 per year.  In 2020/21 there would be a fair funding review and the 
business rates changes which was unclear of the detail at this time. 

The Chief Accountant gave detail on how Breckland had achieved good 
progress against its original target of saving £1.8m during 2018/19 
through the Transformation Programme.  It had already achieved £1.7m 
and through a review of projects the new projected saving would be 
£1.9m.  A Member asked for details on the largest savings to date that 
had been delivered through the transformation programme.  These 
would be circulated to Members after the meeting.

The income sources showed the largest income received was through 
the retained business rates (at £7.5m), the second largest was seen 
through statutory fees and charges (at £4.6m), and the third largest was 
the Council Tax raised (at £3.8m).

27



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
13 December 2018

4

Action By
Breckland had previously committed to invest £8.9m into the Growth & 
Investment reserve; and £1.5m into the Communities reserve for 2019-
20.  The Council currently had £0.6m available from renewable energy 
but were not relying on the value yet as further information would not be 
available until 2020 when Members would be asked to make further 
decisions.

In summary, Breckland had a balanced revenue budget through the 
medium term, and were in good financial position to react to any 
changes as a result of the Fair Funding review in 2020-21.

Councillor Dimoglou queried why the Growth & Investment fund had not 
increased, as he thought the Growth fund was set up to facilitate growth 
in the District.  It was explained that the Growth & Investment fund had 
originally been funded by the Revenue Support Grant, but the Council 
would no longer receive this in future years.

145/18 PERFORMANCE UPDATE 

The Corporate Improvement and Performance Manager informed 
Members how the team had historically looked at past trends and 
performance that had occurred over a period of time. It was hoped that 
the team could look forward and allow service areas to prepare for 
customer demand.  For example the Council were aware when the 
Council Tax Bills were issued and therefore could be in a position to 
ensure enough staff were available to receive calls.  Similarly the 
graphs would show when there would be a lull and could perhaps plan 
in training.

Councillor Joel asked how Officers would know to take the appropriate 
action.  Members were informed that the team were moving to an 
account management approach who would work closely with the 
Service Manager to share information to help to maximise performance 
within their teams.

Councillor Dimoglou questioned if it was over analysis as he had always 
received a good service from the customer contact centre.  He went 
onto suggest that the contact centre should consider opening hours to 
allow residents to contact the Council outside of the usual office 
opening hours.  This suggestion would be considered as part of the 
customer service review.

Members went onto raise their concerns that residents were being 
directed to use the online services, rather than being able to telephone 
the Council and felt uncomfortable with that approach.

146/18 TASK AND FINISH GROUPS 

Councillor Jermy informed Members that a Norfolk wide programme of 
action against fly-tipping would be rolled out by Norfolk County Council 
at the end of January 2019 and Breckland would be very much involved 
with this. 

A report would be written to explain what the Task and Finish group had 
learnt and suggest recommendations.  He was yet to be advised if it 
could be possible for the Commission to receive the report at the end of 

28



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
13 December 2018

5

Action By
January due to the number of Officers and agencies that would input 
into the report. 

147/18 OUTSIDE BODY FEEDBACK (STANDING ITEM) 

Councillor Wilkinson informed Members that the Norfolk Waveney and 
Mental Health Trust had been put into special measures once again.  A 
draft strategy of improvement had been published and was available on 
their website and would be open for public scrutiny in February 2019.

The Youth Advisory Groups continued to grow and develop and had 
been given a variety of projects to achieve.  The Swaffham group had 
taken part in remembering those that had fallen during the WW1.  The 
Attleborough group had attended St Marys day Centre and had 
organised a raffle and two petting animals from PACT  that had a 
positive affect within the centre.  The Groups were beginning to engage 
with their Town Councils in how they could support the Youth in the 
future.

Councillor Bambridge had previously circulated drainage board details 
to Members.

Councillor Kybird informed Members that the new exhibition at Ancient 
House would be launched on the 15 December that aimed to raise 
awareness of the work of Olive Edis one of the most important 
photographers of the early 20th century and give her the recognition she 
deserved.

148/18 SCRUTINY CALL-INS (STANDING ITEM) 

None.

149/18 COUNCILLOR CALL FOR ACTION (STANDING ITEM) 

Nothing to report.

150/18 WORK PROGRAMME 

Members were informed that Capita would be asked to attend the 
meeting of the Commission on the 7 March 2019.

It was clarified that Members would like to see an overview of the 
process of the Section 106 monies and how it worked.  Members raised 
concern as some had heard that Parishes were not seeing the results of 
what the S106 monies had been allocated to.

Councillor Jermy asked that the Member Induction update provided 
information on the roll-out of IT equipment to Members.

Members asked for the Chairman of the Environment, Development and 
Transport Committee from Norfolk County Council to attend the next 
meeting of the Commission to answer questions previously raised by 
Members regarding Highways issues across the District.  

29



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
13 December 2018

6

Action By
151/18 NEXT MEETING 

The arrangements for the next meeting to be held on Thursday 31 
January 2019 at 2.00pm in the Anglia Room, Elizabeth House, 
Dereham were noted.

The meeting closed at 3.50 pm

CHAIRMAN

30



BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

PLANNING COMMITTEE

Held on Monday, 26 November 2018 at 9.30 am in
Anglia Room, The Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham

PRESENT
Mr N.C. Wilkin (Chairman)
Mr W. R. J. Richmond (Vice-
Chairman)
Councillor C. Bowes
Councillor M. Chapman-Allen
Mr H. E. J. Clarke
Mr P.J. Duigan

Mrs J. Hollis
Mr A.P. Joel
Mr K. Martin
Mr F.J. Sharpe
Mr P. S. Wilkinson

Also Present
Mr S.G. Bambridge (Ward 
Representative)
Mr P. M. M. Dimoglou (Ward 
Representative)

Mrs L.H. Monument (Ward Representative)

In Attendance
Michael Horn Solicitor to the Council
Simon Wood Interim Director of Planning
Carl Griffiths Principal Development Management Planner
Fiona Hunter Principal Development Management Planner
Naomi Minto Development Management Planner
Tom Donnelly Development Management Assistant
Natalie Wicks Planning Assistant
Julie Britton Democratic Services Officer
Liz Poole Engineer (Major Developments)

 

Action By
132/18 MINUTES (AGENDA ITEM 1) 

The Minutes of the meeting held on 29 October 2018 were confirmed as a correct 
record and signed by the Chairman.

133/18 APOLOGIES & SUBSTITUTES (AGENDA ITEM 2) 

An apology for absence was received from Councillor Brame.

134/18 DECLARATION OF INTEREST AND OF REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED 
(AGENDA ITEM 3) 

Agenda item 8(a): Toftwood: Land off Shipdham Road, Westfield Road and 
Westfield Lane: Reference: 3PL/2015/1490/O

Members had received direct correspondence in relation to this application. 

135/18 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (AGENDA ITEM 4) 

Members were informed of a site visit that was taking place on Tuesday, 11 
December 2018 at a site in Beeston.  All Members were encouraged to attend - 

31

Agenda Item 10a



Planning Committee
26 November 2018

Action By

refreshments would be available in the Norfolk Room from 9am for departure at 
9.30am and car sharing was advised.

136/18 REQUESTS TO DEFER APPLICATIONS INCLUDED IN THIS AGENDA 
(AGENDA ITEM 5) 

Councillor Duigan raised concerns about the deferred item in Hockering, listed on 
the schedule of deferred applications.  He had been past the site on many 
occasions and was aware that most of the dwellings had been built. The Planning 
Business Manager, Mr Simon Wood, said that he would investigate. 

The schedule of deferred applications was otherwise noted.

137/18 URGENT BUSINESS (AGENDA ITEM 6) 

None.

138/18 LOCAL PLAN UPDATE (STANDING ITEM) (AGENDA ITEM 7) 

Simon Wood, the Interim Director of Planning announced that there was a report 
going to Full Council on 6th December which would consider the main 
modifications required to the Breckland Local Plan following the Inspectors letter 
to the Council. The report should be published in the next few days as part of the 
agenda pack for that meeting, and would include a full schedule of modifications. 
The Council agenda would soon be published on the Breckland website and any 
questions relating to that report should be directed to the Planning Policy Team.

Councillor Clarke looked forward to further clarity on this matter.

Councillor Martin asked if there was any indication to when the Attleborough SUE 
would be discussed.  Members were informed that significant discussions were 
still on-going but it was anticipated, although not definite, that the application 
would be included on the Planning Agenda early next year.

139/18 DEFERRED APPLICATIONS (AGENDA ITEM 8) 

(a) Toftwood: Land off Shipdham Road,  Westfield Road and Westfield Lane: 
Reference: 3PL/2015/1490/O  

Residential development for a maximum of 291 dwellings, link roads, open 
space and recreational space.  Amended proposal to include demolition of 
existing railway bridge at Westfield Lane and construction of a replacement two-
way railway bridge (instead of traffic signalling works at the junction of South 
Green and Tavern Lane).

This application had been considered at the Planning Committee meeting on 15 
January 2018 where it was refused planning permission for the following 
reasons:

1. The intrusion of built development into the open countryside and the 
creation of a hard edge to the town of Dereham; and

2. Significant visual impact and harm to the character and appearance of the 
site and surround landscape.

The vote had been tied, 5 x 5, and following the Chairman’s casting vote, the 
application was refused on the above stated grounds together with a highway 
ground, including the impact of the junction on a ‘C’ Class road being used as an 

32



Planning Committee
26 November 2018

Action By

entrance/access point to the development.

Members had received direct correspondence in relation to this application.  A 
letter of objection from George Freeman MP was read aloud, this was a follow on 
letter from the one he had written in January 2018.  

Councillor Dimoglou, a neighbouring Ward Representative for Yaxham, although 
in attendance, did not take part in the debate and left the room whilst this 
application was discussed. 

Liz Poole, from Norfolk County Council Highways, was also in attendance.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Simon Wood, Interim Director 
of Planning.  It was noted that the proposal was for a maximum of 291 dwellings 
and not for a minimum of 291 dwellings as stated on the report.  It was further 
noted that the footway would form part of the bridge; there would not be a 
separate footpath.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Dereham Town Council: Tony Needham

Applicant’s Agent: Jane Crichton & Philip Atkinson 
(Lanpro)

Transport Consultant: Simon Clewlow

Norfolk County Council Highways: Liz Poole

Neighbouring Ward Representative: Cllr Linda Monument

Yaxham Parish Council: Peter Lowings (Chairman)

Objector: Philip Morton

Objector: Valerie Baker (on behalf of Toftwood 
Life Community)

Objector: Michelle Parnell 

DECISION: Members voted 6 x 4 for approval of a maximum of 291 
dwellings as recommended; subject to the conditions as listed in the 
report; and a S106 Agreement to secure:

1) the provision of onsite affordable housing at 40% (116 
dwellings);

2) contributions to Library services £17,460;

3) contributions to local Primary Schools on a pro rata basis 
£980,089;

4) public open space contribution;
33



Planning Committee
26 November 2018

Action By

5) NHS contribution £91,740;

6) the removal of the requirement for a payment of £182,500 for 
the restoration works to the River Tud - these works would 
now be undertaken as part of the scheme agreed via the 
Unilateral Undertaking;

7) onsite open space totalling 12.63 hectare;

8) offsite green space to be reverted to low density grazing land 
totalling 13ha;

9) a roundabout to be constructed and open by the 50th built 
dwelling; and

10) the railway bridge and footpath to be constructed and open 
by the 50th built dwelling – no works shall take place to the 
railway bridge known as ‘Bridge 1692’, until a detailed report 
recording the construction methods, materials and 
architectural details of the bridge has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority.

The Chairman thanked Tony Needham, Dereham Town Council for his excellent 
representation.  It was noted that the Town Council’s Sustainable Transport 
Study, in respect of cycle and footway links, which should be completed by 
December 2018, would be considered in relation to subsequent reserved matters 
applications.

140/18 SCHEDULE OF PLANNING APPLICATIONS (AGENDA ITEM 9) 

RESOLVED that the applications be determined as follows:

(a) Ashill: Land adjacent to Reeves Farm, Hale Road Reference: 3PL/2018/0764/O  

Residential development.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Tom Donnelly, Development 
Management Assistant

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

A representation was made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Ward Representative: Councillor Frank Sharpe (on behalf of the 
Parish Council)

Prior to the decision being made Councillor Sharpe asked for it to be noted that, 
on behalf of the Parish Council, he wanted the gas pipeline clarified as the gas 
main was preventing a footpath being installed.  The Parish Council also wanted 
to know if a street light could be installed.  Simon Wood, the Planning Business 
Manager advised that there had been no objection in principle to the installation 
of a footpath and an informative condition could be applied instructing the agents 
to contact the National Grid or Cadent.  The Development Management Assistant 
was not aware of any street light proposal.

34



Planning Committee
26 November 2018

Action By

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended; 
subject to:

1. the conditions as listed in the report;

2. the ecology comments being received in relation to bats and other 
ecological receptors; and

3. an informative be added to the Decision Notice in relation to the gas 
pipeline being clarified to enable the provision of a  possible 
footpath.

(b) Attleborough: Land to the rear of Pixie Paddock, Leys Lane: Reference: 
3PL/2018/0889/F  

Erection of a 4 bed dwelling.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Tom Donnelly, Development 
Management Assistant.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

A representation was made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Agent: John Barbuck (Patterson Design)

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended; 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report. 

(c) Carbrooke: The Crown House, Meadow Lane: Reference: 3PL/2018/1244/F  

Proposed 2 new bungalows.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Tom Donnelly, Development 
Management Assistant.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

Updated representations had been included in the supplementary agenda (see 
page 171).

No representations were made in respect of the application.

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended; 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report. 

(d) Foxley: Old Fakenham Road: Reference: 3PL/2018/1053/O  

Seven residential dwellings with associated gardens, garages and private drives.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Naomi Minto, Development 
Management Planner.

35



Planning Committee
26 November 2018

Action By

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Ward Representative: Councillor Gordon Bambridge

Agent: Russell de Beer

Foxley Parish Council: Nicholas Mears (Chairman)

Bawdeswell Parish Council: Bill Cuncliffe (Chairman)

Prior to the decision being made Members were informed that the words ‘data 
error’ would be removed from conditions 13 and 14.

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended; 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report; and subject to the issue of 
affordable housing provision being addressed. 

(e) Litcham: Land off Weasenham Road : Reference: 3PL/2018/0694/O  

Outline permission for the erection of 8 dwellings, with all matters except access 
reserved.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Carl Griffiths, Principal 
Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Applicant’s Agent: Sarah Hornbrook (Bidwells)

Engineering Consultant Martin Doughty

An email from the Ward Member, Councillor Gould was read aloud.  Councillor 
Gould was in support of the application.

Both applications 3PL/2018/694/0, agenda item 9(e) and 3PL/2018/0698/O, 
agenda item 9(f) were considered in conjunction with each other as both would 
constitute a major development.

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval contrary to the 
Officers recommendation of refusal.

REASON(S): on the grounds that the proposal was in a sustainable location 
and would contribute to the Council’s five year housing land supply.  

Members felt that the above reasons outweighed the Highway Authority’s 
objections.

DECISION: Members voted unanimously to approve the application. 

36



Planning Committee
26 November 2018

Action By

The application be approved; subject to:

1. delegated authority to be granted to the Executive Director of Place 
in consultation with the Applicant’s Agent to identify and agree 
appropriate conditions; and

2. a S106 Agreement and Unilateral Undertaking be imposed in relation 
to affordable housing, play area and off-site highway works.

(f) Litcham: Land of Wellingham Road: Reference: 3PL/2018/0698/O  

Outline permission for the erection of 8 dwellings, with all matters except access 
reserved.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Carl Griffiths, Principal 
Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Applicant’s Agent: Sarah Hornbrook (Bidwells)

Engineering Consultant Martin Doughty

An email from the Ward Member, Councillor Gould was read aloud.  Councillor 
Gould was in support of the application.

Both applications 3PL/2018/0698/O, agenda item 9(f) and 3PL/2018/694/0, 
agenda item 9(e) and were considered in conjunction with each other as both 
constituted a major development.

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval contrary to the 
Officers recommendation of refusal.

REASON(S): on the grounds that the proposal was in a sustainable location 
and would contribute to the Council’s five year housing land supply.  

Members felt that the above reasons outweighed the Highway Authority’s 
objections.

DECISION: Members voted unanimously to approve the application. 

The application be approved; subject to:

1. delegated authority to be granted to the Executive Director of Place 
in consultation with the Applicant’s Agent to identify and agree 
appropriate conditions; and

2. a S106 Agreement and Unilateral Undertaking be imposed in relation 
to affordable housing, play area and off-site highway works.

37



Planning Committee
26 November 2018

Action By

(g) North Tuddenham: Church Farm, Low Road: Reference: 3PL/2018/1057/F  

Demolition of log store and barn and replacement with single dwelling and 
garage.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Naomi Minto, Development 
Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Ward Representative: Councillor Gordon Bambridge (in support)

Applicant’s Agent: Erica Whettingsteel (EJW Planning Ltd)

Parish Council: Mike Smith (Vice-Chairman)

Prior to the decision being made the Chairman asked if a suitable passing place 
could be installed.  It was noted that the applicant’s agent was waiting for 
correspondence and clarification of ownership of land from Norfolk County 
Council Highways Authority.  

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval contrary to the 
Officer’s recommendation of refusal.

REASON(S): on the grounds that the proposal was in a sustainable 
location, would enhance the hamlet and would contribute to the Council’s 
five year housing land supply.  

DECISION: Members voted unanimously to approve the application. 

The application be approved and delegated authority be granted to the 
Executive Director of Place in consultation with the Applicant’s Agent to 
identify and agree appropriate conditions and an additional condition to be 
imposed subject to land ownership being obtained for the provision of a 
passing place between Mattishall Lane and the development site.

(h) Old Buckenham: 9 The Old Yard: Reference: 3PL/2018/0887/F  

Erection of an office building with first floor 2 bed residential accommodation.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Tom Donnelly, Development 
Management Assistant.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

No representations were made in respect of the application.

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended; 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report. 

38



Planning Committee
26 November 2018

Action By

(i) Shipdham: Land to the east of Pound Green Lane: Reference:  
3PL/2018/1103/F  

Residential development of four dwellings..

Consideration was given to the report presented by Naomi Minto, Development 
Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Applicant’s Agents: Abby Gretton and Melanie Tilley (Clayland 
Architects)

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended; 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report; and subject to additional 
conditions relating to foul sewage disposal and operational time in relation 
to movement of site traffic.

(j) Whinburgh and Westfield: Lowdells House, Shop Street: Reference: 
3PL/2017/1472/F  

Two new detached 4 bedroom dwellings with detached double garages.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Naomi Minto, Development 
Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Ward Representative: Councillor Pablo Dimoglou (in support)

Applicant’s Agent: John Jenkins

Objectors: Stratton and Denise Humphrey

DECISION: Members voted 9 x 1 for approval as recommended; subject to 
the conditions as listed in the report and subject to a total of three owl 
boxes being installed. 

(k) Yaxham: Development Site, Land Off Elm Close: Reference: 
3PL/2018/0024/VAR  

Removal of conditions 13 and 21 and variation of conditions 12 and 16 of 
planning permission reference: 3PL/2014/0820/O.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Fiona Hunter, Principal 
Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

39



Planning Committee
26 November 2018

Action By

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Ward Representative: Councillor Pablo Dimoglou (in support)

NP4Yaxham: Maggie Oechsle

DECISION: Members voted 9 x 1 for approval as recommended; subject to 
the conditions as listed in the report. 

141/18 APPLICATIONS DETERMINED BY THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF 
PLACE (AGENDA ITEM 10) 

Noted.

142/18 APPEALS DECISIONS (FOR INFORMATION) (AGENDA ITEM 11) 

Noted.

The meeting closed at 1.35 pm
CHAIRMAN

40



BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

PLANNING COMMITTEE

Held on Monday, 17 December 2018 at 9.30 am in
Anglia Room, The Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham

PRESENT
Mr N.C. Wilkin (Chairman)
Mr W. R. J. Richmond (Vice-
Chairman)
Mr R. F. W. Brame
Mr H. E. J. Clarke
Mr P.J. Duigan

Mrs J. Hollis
Mr A.P. Joel
Mr K. Martin
Mr F.J. Sharpe
Mr P. S. Wilkinson

Also Present
Mr S.G. Bambridge (Ward 
Representative)

In Attendance
Michael Horn Solicitor to the Council
Simon Wood Interim Director of Planning
Jon Berry Head of Development Management
Hugh Coggles Tree & Countryside Officer
Tom Donnelly Development Management Assistant
Carl Griffiths Principal Development Management Planner
Mark Simmonds Principal DM Planner
Natalie Wicks Planning Assistant
Julie Britton Democratic Services Officer

 

Action By
143/18 MINUTES (AGENDA ITEM 1) 

1) Deferred Applications (Minute No. 139/18(a)): Toftwood: land off 
Shipdham Road, Westfield Road and Westfield Lane: Reference: 
3PL/2015/1490/0

The Vice-Chairman, Councillor Richmond, referred to page 9 of the 
Minutes, and asked if an informative condition could be added to ensure 
that the footway over the bridge be a minimum of 3.1 metres in width in 
line with National Guidance.  He was aware that this had been asked for 
at the meeting but he did not believe that this had been conditioned.  
Simon Wood, the Interim Director of Planning informed Members that this 
would form part of the detailed design of the bridge and could be added 
as an informative condition but he would have to speak with Norfolk 
County Council Highways to establish whether this could be physically 
accommodated.   

The Vice-Chairman also asked if the Town Council’s Sustainable 
Transport Study that should be completed by December 2018, in respect 
of cycle-ways and foot-links, would be considered along with the 
Transport Assessment and the Travel Plan in subsequent Reserved 
Matters applications. The Interim Director of Planning felt that this would 
prove difficult as it would be making reference to a document or a study 
that did not actually exist; however, he suggested that these matters 

41

Agenda Item 10b



Planning Committee
17 December 2018

Action By

could be included at the Reserved Matters stage - a requirement for a 
cycle assessment to be provided as part of any Reserved Matters 
application.

2) Minutes

Subject to the above matters, the Minutes of the meeting held on 26 
November 2018 were confirmed as a correct record and signed by the 
Chairman.   

144/18 APOLOGIES & SUBSTITUTES (AGENDA ITEM 2) 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Claire Bowes and Marion 
Chapman-Allen.  No substitutes were in attendance.

145/18 DECLARATION OF INTEREST AND OF REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED 
(AGENDA ITEM 3) 

Beeston: Land off The Street and Herne Lane: Reference: 3PL/2018/0472/F

All Members had received written representations in respect of this application.

146/18 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (AGENDA ITEM 4) 

The Chairman thanked the Members who attended the recent site visit in 
Beeston.  He also wished everyone a very Happy Christmas.

147/18 REQUESTS TO DEFER APPLICATIONS INCLUDED IN THIS AGENDA 
(AGENDA ITEM 5) 

None.

148/18 URGENT BUSINESS (AGENDA ITEM 6) 

Simon Wood, the Interim Director of Planning, advised Members that in relation 
to the application recently discussed at Minute No. 143/18 above which had been 
considered by Members at the previous Committee meeting, he had received 
notification by the Department of Housing, Communities & Local Government 
that the decision notice for this application should not be issued until the 
Secretary of State had considered whether or not to call in the application.  

149/18 LOCAL PLAN UPDATE (STANDING ITEM) (AGENDA ITEM 7) 

The Local Plan modifications had been considered at a recent Full Council 
meeting and Officers were now in the process of preparing the consultation 
documents.

150/18 DEFERRED APPLICATIONS (AGENDA ITEM 8) 

The Schedule of Deferred Applications attached to the agenda was noted.

151/18 SCHEDULE OF PLANNING APPLICATIONS (AGENDA ITEM 9) 

RESOLVED that the applications be determined as follows:

42



Planning Committee
17 December 2018

Action By

(a) Attleborough: Unit opposite MultiFab Bunns Bank: Reference: 3PL/2018/1206/F  

Erection of 1 No. industrial building, split into 6 general industrial units.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Carl Griffiths, Principal 
Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

No representations were made in respect of the application.

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report. 

(b) Beeston: Land off The Street and Herne Lane: Reference: 3PL/2018/0472/F  

Erection of 6 no. dwellings (including two affordable dwellings) with double 
garages, associated parking and gardens including the creation of a new access 
onto The Street.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Mark Simmonds, Principal 
Development Management Planner.

This application had been presented to the Planning Committee meeting on 1 
October 2018 where Members had resolved to approve the application as an 
overturn of the Officer’s recommendation of refusal.

There had subsequently been submitted:

1. additional information in the form of dated photographs showing a hedge 
on the northern boundary of the site including from 1946. The additional 
information comes from an objector and from investigations by the 
Council's Tree Officer.  This additional information indicates that the 
hedge on the northern boundary is a hedge which should be considered 
as an 'Important Hedge' and its value as such and the presumption to 
retain such a hedge.

2. a Pre-Action Letter regarding the intention to lodge a Judicial Review 
application in regard to the decision of the Council to approve the 
application, the details of which had been set out in the report.

This application was being re-presented to Planning Committee for re-
consideration by Members.  The Officer’s recommendation was one of refusal.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Applicant’s Agent: Phil Hardy (Parker Planning Services)

Applicant: Helen Palmer-Wright

Objector: Julian Farrall
43



Planning Committee
17 December 2018

Action By

DECISION: Members voted 5 x 3 for refusal as recommended, plus one 
abstention from Councillor Phillip Duigan.

(c) Foulden: Site at School Road: Reference: 3PL/2017/1603/O  

Proposed residential development.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Carl Griffiths, Principal 
Development Management Planner.

This application had been considered by the Planning Committee at the meeting 
held on 2 July 2018. It was resolved to grant planning permission subject to 
conditions and a S106 legal agreement. The formal planning decision had not yet 
been issued and the application remained undetermined at this time.

A Pre-Action Protocol (PAP) Letter of 12th September 2018 was received by the 
Council from Richard Buxton Environmental & Public Law ("PAP Letter"). The 
PAP Letter threatened a claim for judicial review on behalf of a local resident.

The Council in conjunction with its legal advisors considered the contents of the 
PAP Letter and it was felt that following review of the grounds of potential 
challenge raised in the PAP Letter relating to the publication of the revised 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF 2) on 24 July 2018 and the 
interpretation and application of guidance contained therein, the Council 
considered it expedient and prudent to return the application to Members for re-
consideration.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Applicant’s Agent: Chris Parsons (Parsons & Whittley Ltd)

Foulden Parish Council: Marianne Christian (Parish Councillor)

Objector: Neil West

DECISION: Members voted 6 x 3 for approval as recommended subject to:

1. the conditions as listed in the report; and
2. a S106 Agreement to ensure the delivery of a footpath linking the 

site with the recreation ground.

(d) Great Ellingham: Development Site at 601936 296991, Attleborough Road: 
Reference: 3PL/2018/0713/VAR  

Variation of Condition 3 (Approved Plans) pursuant to grant of consent 
3PL/2015/0487/O for the erection of 9no homes (3 affordable houses, 5 open 
market detached and 1 open market semi-detached house). Variation to size of 
dwellings.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Carl Griffiths, Principal 
Development Management Planner.

44



Planning Committee
17 December 2018

Action By

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

No representations were made in respect of the application.

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report.

(e) Ickburgh: Land adjacent to Manor Farm, 50 Ashburton Road: Reference: 
3PL/2018/1061/F  

Full planning permission for the erection of three dwellings and creation of a new 
vehicular access.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Tom Donnelly, Development 
Management Assistant.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

A representation was made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Applicant’s Agent: James Platt (Locus Planning Ltd)

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report.

(f) Narborough:  Pentney Leisure and Bowls Club, Narborough Road, Pentney, 
Kings Lynn: Reference: 3PL/2018/0154/F  

Use of site for caravans to be occupied for residential purposes (for a three year 
period) to include the variation of conditions to the previously approved caravan 
site.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Carl Griffiths, Principal 
Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Applicant: Terry Gray

Applicant’s Agent: Anthony Evans Sketcher Partnership Ltd)

Ward Representative: Councillor Peter Wilkinson

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report.

(g) Whissonsett: Land off Dereham Road: Reference: 3PL/2018/0333/F  

Erection of dwelling with associated garage incorporating an annexe, parking and 
garden.

45



Planning Committee
17 December 2018

Action By

Consideration was given to the report presented by Mark Simmonds, Principal 
Development Management Planner.

The decision in respect of the application had been deferred to enable an update 
to be provided to the Committee in relation to the reason/justification for the 
felling of a tree on the site. 

This application had previously been presented to the Planning Committee on the 
2 July 2018 where the Committee overturned the Officer’s recommendation of 
refusal.  Members felt that the proposals, including the design, were acceptable. 
However, the decision notice could not be issued until the end of the consultation 
period due to a revised plan relating to visibility splays.  Additionally, prior to the 
consultation period ending, the felling of the tree occurred.

The tree in question had been situated on the western boundary of the site.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Applicant’s Agent: Phil Hardy (Parker Planning Services)

Applicant: Caroline Edge

Objector: Anri Brand

DECISION: Members voted 7 x 2 for approval, contrary to the Officer’s 
recommendation of refusal.

REASON(S): The Committee noted the potential adverse impacts of the 
development but found the design proposed acceptable and considered 
that the benefits of the scheme, including the contribution to the five year 
housing land supply, outweighed the adverse impacts of the scheme.

DECISION: Members voted 7 x 2 to approve the application.

The application be approved subject to delegated authority being granted 
to the Executive Director of Place to identify and agree appropriate 
conditions. 

152/18 APPLICATIONS DETERMINED BY THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF 
PLACE (AGENDA ITEM 10) 

Noted.

153/18 APPEALS SUMMARY (FOR INFO) (AGENDA ITEM 11) 

Noted.

The meeting closed at 11.00 am

46



Planning Committee
17 December 2018

Action By

CHAIRMAN

47



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

GOVERNANCE & AUDIT COMMITTEE

Held on Friday, 14 December 2018 at 10.00 am in
Norfolk Room, Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham

PRESENT
Mr W.P. Borrett (Chairman)
Mr P. S. Wilkinson (Vice-
Chairman)
Mr P.J. Hewett

Mrs L.H. Monument
Mr M. J. Nairn
Mr J. Newton

Also Present
Mr J. Plaskett (Independent Lay 
Advisor)

In Attendance
Ross Bangs - Corporate Improvement & Performance 

Manager (shared)
Faye Haywood - Internal Audit Manager
Alison Chubbock - Chief Accountant (Deputy Section 151 

Officer) (BDC)
Julie Britton - Democratic Services Officer

Action By
63/18 MINUTES (AGENDA ITEM 1) 

The Minutes of the meeting held on 28 September 2018 were confirmed 
as a correct record and signed by the Chairman subject to the 
Independent Specialist Advisor to the Governance & Audit Committee, Mr 
John Plaskett, being added to the list of those present.

64/18 ACTIONS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES (IF ANY) (STANDING ITEM) 
(AGENDA ITEM 2) 

Members were reminded of the Norfolk Pension Fund Briefing being 
presented by Mr Alex Younger which was being held immediately after 
this meeting.

65/18 APOLOGIES (AGENDA ITEM 3) 

None.

66/18 URGENT BUSINESS (AGENDA ITEM 4) 

None.

67/18 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS (AGENDA ITEM 5) 

None.

48

Agenda Item 11



Governance & Audit Committee
14 December 2018

2

Action By
68/18 NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING (AGENDA 

ITEM 6) 

None present.

69/18 TRAINING (STANDING ITEM) (AGENDA ITEM 7) 

None required.

70/18 QUARTER 2 2018-19 RISK REPORT (AGENDA ITEM 8) 

Members agreed the Exclusion of Press and Public at this point of the 
meeting (see Agenda item 14) to enable the Capita Risk Report (Agenda 
item 15) to be discussed with agenda item 8. 

RESOLVED:

“That under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the 
press and the public be excluded from the meeting for the following item 
of business on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in paragraph 3 and 4 of Schedule 12A to the Act”.

Ross Bangs, the Corporate Improvement and Performance (CIP) 
Manager presented the report.

The Strategic Risk Register included 15 strategic risks.  Overall the 
number of risks in the high category remained the same; there was one 
less in the medium category in this quarter and one more in the low rated 
category, so overall risk scores had improved in this quarter.

The ICT risk regarding possible breach remained as a high risk due to the 
impact a breach would have on the Council.  The Impact of the 
Homelessness Reduction Act also remained at ‘red’ status for this quarter 
due to the implementation of the Act putting a strain on resources for the 
housing service and the housing register.  However, following a 
successful recruitment exercise six new members of staff had been 
appointed and once trained, this particular risk was expected to be moved 
to a more positive position in quarters 3 and 4.

There were eight risks that remained in the medium category; however, 
whilst risk scores remained the same a great deal of work had been done 
by HR in relation to staff recruitment.  This work had paid more focus on 
social media and direct marketing for candidates to enhance the Council’s 
recruitment campaigns.  Analysis had also been conducted by the CIP 
team which had shown positive trends amongst staff turnover within 
Breckland.

Work also continued within the Legal Team around GDPR and ensuring 
privacy notices/IARs were complete and a GDPR audit had been 
undertaken and would be reported to the Governance & Audit Committee 
in Quarter 3.

Attention was drawn to the risk on page 23 of the agenda pack in relation 
to the under occupancy rate of Riverside.  Members had asked for this 
particular risk to be deleted at the last meeting. The Corporate 
Improvement and Performance Manager apologised and would remove 

RB

49



Governance & Audit Committee
14 December 2018

3

Action By
the risk accordingly. Members were informed that the Corporate 
Management Team had recently adopted an account management 
approach who would work closely with the Service Manager to share 
information to help to maximise performance and reduce risks within their 
teams; therefore, any risk should be mitigated before it occurred.

There was a great deal of debate in relation to Capita particularly in 
respect of staff turnover and savings against the contract.  The Chairman 
felt that a wider piece of work was needed as the risk score in his opinion 
and other Members opinions was much too low.  It was noted that Capita 
was being called into the Overview & Scrutiny Commission meeting in 
March 2019.  It was further noted that weekly meetings with Capita had 
already been scheduled to take place in the New Year.  It was agreed that 
all concerns would be fed back to the Executive Director of Place, Rob 
Walker and the Breckland Place Manager, Riana Rudland.  

It was further agreed that a report would be brought back to a future 
Governance & Audit Committee meeting to include: the assessment of 
the economy, effectiveness and efficiency of the Capita contract at this 
stage of its contract life - – rechecking the promised savings and 
guarantees made at its inception, and the plans currently in place to 
ensure the contract met the expectations both of the Council and 
residents in the future.

Referring back to the risk register, Mr Plaskett mentioned the target dates 
that had now passed and felt that they should be removed.  Revised, 
updated Risk Registers were circulated.  Mr Plaskett noticed that some of 
the targets had been missed and asked that Members be kept informed of 
how often the target dates should be changed.  The Corporate 
Improvement and Performance Manager said that original and new target 
dates could be shown on the Register.

Mr Plaskett drew attention to the risk score under the failure to maximise 
income from investment asset portfolio due to the one large void property.  
Alison Chubbock, the Chief Accountant (Deputy S151 Officer) explained 
that a contract had recently been signed for this property; therefore, the 
risk score should be reduced.

Attention was also drawn to the risk that had not changed since he started 
with the Governance & Audit Committee in relation to staff recruitment 
and retention and felt that a better understanding was needed of how this 
risk was managed.  The Chairman asked if the target score was realistic.  
Members were informed that this score and how the risk was managed 
would be reviewed by the Council’s HR colleagues.  The Vice-Chairman, 
Councillor Wilkinson did not approve of the idea of benchmarking with 
other authorities.  Members were informed that this was in relation to 
understanding the market and the movement with employment and was 
purely an indicator not a target.  Breckland Council was in the upper 
quartile and this should be seen as a positive.

In response to a further question in relation to Riverside, Members were 
informed that the notes referred to the social events that had taken place 
in 2018 in Thetford.  The Chief Accountant advised that internal funding 
had been secured for the Council’s Reserves to attract more interest in 
the Riverside area.

RB

RB/AC

RB

RB/AC

RB

50



Governance & Audit Committee
14 December 2018

4

Action By
Councillor Newton mentioned the void units and the number of smaller 
assets that were being disposed of which he felt should be re-valued.  
Councillor Nairn explained that many of the smaller industrial units were 
reaching a point that was no longer viable for the Council to maintain or 
redevelop.  The question of rents raised by Councillor Newton would be 
discussed outside of the meeting with the Chief Accountant.

Councillor Hewett questioned the score of ‘one’ for the failure to deliver 
the Local Plan and asked what this actually measured.  Members were 
informed that the score was low due to the fact that it was highly unlikely 
that the Local Plan would not be delivered.  Councillor Hewett had noticed 
the target date against this risk and felt that dates should be included on 
the latest notes and in subsequent reports in future.  The Corporate 
Improvement and Performance Manager pointed out that the Account 
Management approach would improve the commentary.  

Councillor Hewett noticed another issue in relation to the dates on page 
24 of the agenda pack, the target date had passed and therefore should 
the risk remain.  It was agreed that this risk would be removed.

Members did not have much confidence of how good this document was 
and felt that there should be a thorough review.  Any further issues would 
be reported accordingly.

Subject to the aforementioned amendments and concerns, the contents 
of the report were otherwise noted.

RB

RB

71/18 TREASURY MANAGEMENT MID YEAR REPORT 2018-19 (AGENDA 
ITEM 9) 

Alison Chubbock, the Chief Accountant & Deputy S151 Officer presented 
the report.

The new Chartered Institute of Public Finance Accountancy (CIPFA) 
Code of Practice on Treasury Management and the Prudential Code had 
been affective from April 2018 and include the revised Ministry for 
Communities, Housing and Local Government (MCHLG) statutory 
guidance on Local Government Investments.

The definition of an investment now covered all the financial assets of the 
organisation, as well as other non-financial assets which the organisation 
held primarily for financial returns, such as investment property portfolios.

The anticipated changes to both the Treasury Policy and Strategies and 
the Capital Strategy had been reported to the Governance & Audit 
Committee on 16 February 2018.  CIPFA had not anticipated the changes 
implemented in full until 19/20 and this report therefore highlighted the 
key changes that were proposed (see report).

For 2019-20 the Treasury Management Policies and Prudential Indicators 
must be more closely aligned to the Council’s Capital Strategy.  The 
Capital Strategy itself would be amended to include a new section setting 
out the Council’s approach to non-financial investments.

In addition, new indicators were proposed in the Treasury Strategy to 
report yield on financial and non-financial investments and also borrowing 

51



Governance & Audit Committee
14 December 2018

5

Action By
in respect on non-financial investments.  The new indicator would monitor 
the extent to which the Council relied on income generating activity to 
achieve a balanced budget.

The appendices attached to the report were highlighted and explained.

RESOLVED that the mid-year report and information on treasury activity 
be agreed.

72/18 FOLLOW UP REPORT ON INTERNAL AUDIT RECOMMENDATIONS 
(AGENDA ITEM 10) 

Faye Haywood, the Internal Audit Manager for Breckland Council 
presented the report based on the agreed internal Audit 
recommendations as at 30 November 2018.  Since then for 2017/18, the 
five recommendations that needed attention had been completed; 
however, 14 recommendations were still outstanding and three for 
2016/17 required urgent attention.

The appendices to the report were highlighted and explained. 

Councillor Monument asked for further explanation in relation to the ‘latest 
notes’ under BRK1704 on page 41 of the agenda pack.  Members were 
informed that DEFRA’s resources and waste strategy had been published 
in May 2018 and the deadline had been extended; therefore, the 
recommendation would be amended accordingly in the next follow up 
report.

Members asked to see more progress against agreed recommendations 
for the year- end report due to be produced for June 2019, as it was noted 
that a number of recommendations had now fallen overdue.  

Councillor Hewett referred to the recommendation responses from the 
officer on page 43, commenting that he preferred the style of the 
response, as the officer portrayed their accountability for delivery and 
cited how the risk was being mitigated until completion could be achieved.

Many more questions and concerns were raised relating to 
recommendation progress. The Internal Audit Manager informed the 
Committee that she would be attending future Performance Risk and 
Audit Board meetings to work with Officers on resolving the outstanding 
recommendations, focusing particularly on those raised in previous 
financial years. It was suggested that if historic recommendations remain 
unresolved at year end, the Committee to invite responsible officers to 
attend the next meeting to explain delays. 

The contents of the report were noted.

FH

FH

FH

73/18 PROGRESS REPORT ON INTERNAL AUDIT ACTIVITY (AGENDA 
ITEM 11) 

Faye Haywood, the Internal Audit Manager for Breckland Council 
presented the progress report on internal audit activity.

The Annual Audit Plan for 2018/19 had been approved by the 
Governance & Audit Committee at its meeting on 16 February 2018.  The 

52



Governance & Audit Committee
14 December 2018

6

Action By
Plan had identified specific audits to be delivered and accordingly, the 
following changes have been made:

Transformation Programme

The programme had come to a natural end of the four-year life span, the 
remaining efficiencies formed part of the ongoing programme of works; 
therefore the internal audit was no longer required.

Environmental Protection

This audit had been deferred to 2019/20 to allow the Team to work on the 
implementation of new software.

Housing Needs, Allocations, Homelessness and Housing

An additional two days had been allocated from the Transformation 
Programme review to accommodate additional testing over funding 
arrangements, system access rights and following up on previously raised 
recommendations.

Office 365 changed to Project Programme Audit

The review had been scheduled in for quarter four of 2018/19; however, 
the Office 365 project had not yet been completed.  Assurance would 
therefore be provided on the governance and management arrangements 
of IT projects.

The 2019/20 Audit Plan would be presented to the Governance & Audit 
Committee in draft form at the next meeting.

Appendix 1 of the report highlighted the current position in completing 
audits to date within the financial year and progress to date was in line 
with expectations.

During the period covered by the report Internal Audit Services had 
issued four final reports and the Executive Summary of these reports had 
been highlighted on Appendix 2 (Page 52 of the agenda pack).

The Chairman had noticed that the findings/recommendations had been 
based on both Breckland Council and South Holland District Council and 
felt that the report would look very different if it had been based on 
Breckland alone.  The Internal Audit Manager reported that a relatively 
equal number of recommendations had been raised at both Councils 
during the joint review; therefore, the report had been presented as one 
piece of work allowing officers to clearly identify the required 
improvements for the shared service.  

Councillor Hewett drew attention to page 61 of the agenda pack in 
relation to an improved audit trail for the processing and approval of 
Members’ expenses and asked if any instances of fraud had been 
identified. The Internal Audit Manager confirmed that no instances had 
been identified and that the recommendation had been raised in relation 
to strengthening controls at South Holland only to prevent fraud risks from 
occurring. He was also very surprised to note that Members did not 
submit VAT receipts for petrol with their mileage claims. 

FH

53



Governance & Audit Committee
14 December 2018

7

Action By

Councillor Monument found it very strange that this report should include 
anything relative to South Holland DC and felt that it would be very helpful 
if the name of the Council could be included at the beginning of the report.

Mr J Plaskett informed the Committee that he is used to seeing the 
deadlines dates for each recommendation when reviewing reports from 
TIAA in another advisory role however, Members advised that they were 
content with the format; and it was: 

It was noted that the report lacked dates/actions as previously reported by 
TIAA; however, Members were content with the format; and it was: 

RESOLVED that the outcomes of the four audits completed by TIAA and 
the amendments to the 2018/19 Internal Audit Plan be noted.

FH

74/18 WORK PROGRAMME (AGENDA ITEM 12) 

The Counter Fraud Corruption and Bribery Policy, Whistleblowing Policy 
and Money Laundering Policy would be added to the Work Programme 
for the next meeting in February 2019.

AC/JB

75/18 NEXT MEETING (AGENDA ITEM 13) 

The arrangements for the next meeting on Friday, 15 February 2019 at 
10.00am in the Norfolk Room were noted.

76/18 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC (AGENDA ITEM 14) 

See Minute No. 70/18 above.

77/18 QUARTER 2 2018-19 RISK REPORT - APPENDIX (AGENDA ITEM 15) 

See Minutes No. 70/18 above.

The meeting closed at 11.20 am

CHAIRMAN

54



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Cllr Paul Claussen, Executive Member for Place

To: Council 24th January 2019

Author: Donna Hall, Licensing and Business Support Manager
Sarah Wolstenholme-Smy, Legal Services Manager

Subject: Safeguarding Policy 

This Policy is for Members information only

 

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 The new Safeguarding Policy has been through Overview and Scrutiny Commission 
who asked that the policy is presented to Council for information. The approval of the 
policy is a Cabinet decision and Cabinet have approved the policy on 27th November 
2018.

1.2 Safeguarding encompasses legal duties and responsibilities to protect people’s health, 
wellbeing and human rights, supporting them to prevent problems from escalating and 
enabling them to live free from harm, abuse and neglect.

1.3 District Councils have a range of statutory duties to safeguard and promote the 
wellbeing of individuals and communities which complement but do not duplicate those 
of our partners. We work with a wide range of partners including: Children’s Services; 
Adult Social Care; Health; Police; voluntary organisations and may more.

1.4 This Council embraces its duties and responsibilities to keep people safe. A policy 
ensures that we fulfil our legal duties, taking consistent and effective action to protect 
those who need safeguarding. This includes:
 Having effective safeguarding policies and procedures in place
 Having a workforce who know how to identify concerns
 Referring concerns to partner agencies
 Working closely with partners (e.g. police, social care, etc)
 Undertaking regular audit and scrutiny to test our effectiveness.

1.5 This policy and its related procedures apply to and must be available to and followed 
by all staff, councillors, volunteers, and contractors or consultants working on behalf of 
and/or representing the Council. 

1.6 An up to date detailed policy is a key tool which goes some way to enabling us to 
demonstrate compliance with our obligations as a District Council under the Children Act 
2004 and the Care Act 2014.

1.7 Breckland Council has had a Child Protection Policy in place for many years which has 
been due a refresh. It was agreed that the Council also needed to ensure that a policy in 
relation to safeguarding adults was adopted, so a joint policy has now been developed.

55

Agenda Item 12



1.8 The Safeguarding Policy has been developed in consultation with the Norfolk Children and 
Adults Safeguarding Boards. Much of the detail in the policy is there to reflect the Boards’ 
current positions and protocols on safeguarding.

1.9 The policy sets the strategic position and outlines key information in relation to 
safeguarding. Procedures have also been written for staff to provide information and 
processes in more detail. The procedures relate to key areas including: Children; Adults; 
Domestic Abuse; Hate crime; Modern Day Slavery and Human Trafficking; PREVENT and 
radicalisation.

1.10 Internally, safeguarding is governed by a Strategic Board which is chaired by the Executive 
Director of Strategy and Governance who is also the Council’s Designated Safeguarding 
Officer. Underneath this board there is an Operational Safeguarding Group which meets 
regularly and is made up of officers across the Council whose role touches safeguarding: 
such as Housing and Community Safety. This is facilitated by the Council’s two Deputy 
Safeguarding Lead Officers. In order to support this important work, an internal secondment 
has now been recruited to, for a 12 month Safeguarding Officer post.

Background papers:- Care Act 2014 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/23/contents/enacted

Children Act 2004 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/contents

Government Guidance “Working Together to Safeguard Children” 
https://www.norfolklscb.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/03/Working-
Together-to-Safeguard-Children-2018.pdf

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Donna Hall
Telephone Number: 07866 810466
Email: donna.hall@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Appendices attached to this report:

Appendix A Safeguarding Policy

56

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/23/contents/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/contents
https://www.norfolklscb.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/03/Working-Together-to-Safeguard-Children-2018.pdf
https://www.norfolklscb.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/03/Working-Together-to-Safeguard-Children-2018.pdf


Safeguarding Policy 

Date …………………………

57



2

Contents Page Page Number

Introduction 3
Safeguarding Roles and Responsibilities 3/4/5/6/7
Policy Overview 7/8
Components of Safeguarding 8
Safeguarding Children and Young People 9
Safeguarding Adults at Risk 9/10
Domestic Abuse 10
Radicalisation and Extremism: Prevent / Channel 10/11
Modern Slavery and Human Trafficking 11
Hate Crime and Mate Crime 11
Recognising Potential Abuse 11/12/13/14
Equality 14
Mental Capacity 14
Professional Curiosity and Respectful Uncertainty 15
Inter-Agency Disputes, Escalation Policies & Challenge Logs 15/16
Confidentiality, Information Sharing and Consent 16/17/18
Record Keeping 18/19
Photography and Pornography 19
Recruitment, Induction and Training, Supervision 
and Appraisal 19/20/21
Support to Staff Experiencing Abuse 21
Safe Working Practices 21/22
Responding to allegations and/or abuse and neglect by 
Employees 22/23
Complaints and Whistle Blowing 23
Audit and Quality Assurance 23
Monitoring and Review 23

        

Appendix A Reporting 
Appendix B Advice and Support
Appendix C Legislation and Guidance
Appendix D Safeguarding Policy and Procedures Version Control

58



3

Introduction

Safeguarding encompasses legal duties and responsibilities to protect people’s 
health, wellbeing and human rights, supporting them to prevent problems from 
escalating and enabling them to live free from harm, abuse and neglect.
 
Safeguarding involves many organisations including: Criminal Justice Agencies, 
Children’s Services, Adult Social Care and Health. District Councils have a range of 
statutory duties to safeguard and promote the wellbeing of individuals and 
communities which complement but do not duplicate those of our partners. 

This Council embraces its duties and responsibilities to keep people safe. This policy 
ensures that we fulfil our legal duties, taking consistent and effective action to 
protect those who need safeguarding. This includes:
 Having effective safeguarding policies and procedures in place
 Having a workforce who know how to identify concerns
 Referring concerns to partner agencies
 Working closely with partners (e.g. police, social care, etc)
 Undertaking regular audit and scrutiny to test our effectiveness.

This policy and its related procedures apply to and must be followed by 
all staff, councillors, volunteers, and contractors or consultants working 
on behalf of and/or representing the Council. 

Everyone must:
 Know where and how to access this policy and its related procedures;
 Read and comply with these documents;
 Complete appropriate training for their role;
 Identify and respond to concerns, abuse, alleged abuse, neglect, exploitation 

and/or poor practice;
 Understand how, why and who to contact with concerns or for further advice;
 Always respond to concerns, discussing these with their manager, the 

safeguarding lead officer or another appropriate organisation;
 Act swiftly to ensure the safety and wellbeing of anyone at risk or suspected of 

being at risk.

Safeguarding Roles and Responsibilities

Safeguarding is everyone’s business. 

A) All Employees
All employees must read this policy and associated procedures and complete relevant 
safeguarding training in order to fulfil their legal responsibility to identify and respond 
to actual or alleged abuse and poor practice. Those who visit people’s homes must be 
particularly alert to signs of abuse or neglect. All officers must always report and 
respond to concerns, doing so swiftly to ensure the safety and wellbeing of those 
involved. Early intervention and empowerment are key, working with the person in a 
multi-agency approach to prevent the situation deteriorating. Officers will be alert to 
and record their response to the person’s wishes, keeping details of safeguarding 
activity on the individual’s case file and advice the Safeguarding Officer.
 
All officers should exercise professional curiosity and respectful uncertainty, looking 
beneath the surface and testing the facts and also their ‘gut feelings’ rather than 

59



4

accepting every explanation, however plausible. Staff may need to discuss concerns 
with their manager and/or refer these to another agency. If an employee and their 
manager do not agree on the best course of action when a concern is raised, they 
should speak to the Designated Safeguarding Officer (DSO) or their Deputies. 

B) Managers and Supervisors
Managers and supervisors are responsible for increasing safeguarding awareness in 
their services, ensuring that staff are properly trained and follow good practice. They 
will include relevant safeguarding actions in their annual team plan, ensure that team 
and individual training needs are identified in appraisal and supervision, and ensure 
training is completed. They will review and manage progress on cases identified by 
their teams. Dealing with abuse and neglect can be stressful and distressing. Managers 
will support and supervise staff appropriately. They will respond promptly to requests 
for information regarding specific cases, and maintain clear communication with the 
Designated Safeguarding Officer and their Deputies, and good working relationships 
with other agencies, addressing any difficulties between frontline staff. 

C) Housing and Homelessness Services
All Housing staff working with individuals and families in difficult and/or crisis situations 
may identify concerns regarding their welfare. Intervening early, working with parents 
or carers, taking account of the needs of the individual, in a multi-agency approach 
e.g. joint home visits with a Health Visitor; referral to Children’s Services or Adult 
Care, often prevents the situation deteriorating. This policy requires such a response 
in every case where staff work with a 16 or 17 year old homeless child, a pregnant 
teenager or teenage parent, care leaver, or where Domestic Abuse is suspected. 
Housing staff also assess the needs of families, including those with disabled children 
who may need home adaptations to enable them to participate fully in family life, and 
are alert to the child’s own needs and wishes. Part 1 of the Housing Act 2004 requires 
authorities to take account of the impact of health and safety hazards in housing on 
vulnerable occupants, including children, when deciding on the action to be taken by 
landlords to improve conditions.

Housing Officers work with and assess the needs of adults who may be vulnerable due 
to their circumstances, including older people, those with disabilities, long-term 
conditions and sensory impairment, those fleeing domestic violence, those with 
learning disabilities, mental health needs or who abuse drugs or alcohol. They may 
need specialist housing, medical help and/or housing adaptations. The Housing Act 
1996 section 213A requires housing authorities to refer to adult care services people 
with whom children normally reside or might reasonably be expected to reside, who 
they believe may be ineligible for assistance, or who may be homeless and may 
become so intentionally or who may be threatened with homelessness intentionally, 
as long as the person consents. If homelessness persists, any child in the family could 
be in need. In such cases, if social services decide the child’s needs would be best met 
by helping the family to obtain accommodation, they can ask the housing authority for 
reasonable advice and assistance, and the housing authority must give reasonable 
advice and assistance.

D) Community Safety Service
Community Safety Officers work with children, young people and adults who are the 
victims or the perpetrators of anti-social behavior or crime, or who live in families 
involved in anti-social behaviour. They are involved in agreeing multi-agency 
responses to meeting people’s needs and ensuring that they live in a safe environment 
e.g. through Anti-Social Behaviour Advisory Group (ASBAGs). Staff are alert to signs 
of abuse or neglect, including the links with Domestic Abuse and Prevent, know how 

60

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/34/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/52/section/213A
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/52/section/213A


5

to record and act on their concerns, and make referrals to other agencies as 
appropriate. 

E) Licensing Service
The Council has a responsibility to undertake its functions under the Licensing Act 
2003 and the Gambling Act 2005. The Licensing Act 2003 requires ‘the protection of 
children from harm’, one of four licensing objectives. The Council must indicate in its 
statement of licensing policy the body (responsible authority) it deems to be 
competent to advise on matters relating to child protection: for the local district 
councils, this is Norfolk Safeguarding Children Board (NSCB). Also, where a premises 
license authorises the exhibition of films, this must include a condition requiring the 
admission of children to be restricted from viewing age-restricted films classified 
according to the recommendations of the British Board of Film Classification (BBFC) or 
the licensing authority itself. The licensing service is well-placed to raise awareness of 
abuse and neglect and promote good practice with taxi drivers and owners of licensed 
premises, requiring compliance with specific criteria such as completion of training in 
order to receive their licence.

F) Designated Safeguarding Officer / Deputy DSO/Safeguarding Officer
The Designated Safeguarding Officer (DSO) is the senior person responsible for 
ensuring that the Council meets its responsibilities under the Children Act 2004, the 
Care Act 2014, and related statutory guidance. Their role is to provide leadership and 
accountability, increasing awareness of safeguarding issues across the Council. They 
have authority to commit resources and make strategic decisions, providing expert 
advice to Senior Managers, staff and councillors. They co-ordinate safeguarding 
activity: implementing and reviewing policy and procedures; co-ordinating and 
monitoring training; ensuring safer recruitment; supporting referrals; overseeing 
complex cases to ensure these are dealt with promptly, thoroughly and fairly; ensuring 
appropriate reporting and recording systems which comply with Data Protection and 
Confidentiality requirements; meeting external requests for information; engaging in 
serious case reviews, audits and inspections, and conducting assurance reviews, 
reporting on and implementing the outcomes of these. They also disseminate 
information from NSCB and NSAB as necessary.

The DSO leads on inter-agency arrangements, liaising with Norfolk Safeguarding 
Children Board and Adults Board (NSCB and NSAB). They support case referrals to 
NSCB / NSAB for review where: there is a need to enhance inter-agency working or 
the case is of particular interest or concern; a case is an example of good and effective 
practice; or where there is a split decision regarding action to be taken to safeguard 
an individual. The DSO contributes to multi-agency reviews and investigations, with a 
role in agreeing the scope of reviews and representing their agency; and assists in 
overcoming difficulties in inter-agency working which cannot be resolved by other 
colleagues, including initiating and responding to cases in line with the agreed 
escalation policy.
The Executive Director of Strategy and Governance is the Designated 
Safeguarding Officer.

The Deputy DSO’s are the Licensing and Business Support Manager and the 
Legal Services Manager.

The Safeguarding Officer’s role is:
 To support the DSO to produce, disseminate, implement, monitor, review and 

promote the Council’s Safeguarding Policy, Procedures and Strategic Plan.

 To advise staff on responding to and referring safeguarding concerns.

61

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2005/19/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/23/contents/enacted


6

 To work with the DSO and Deputies to ensure that the Council fulfils its duties and 
can evidence delivery of its legal duties under Section 11 of the Children Act 2004 
and the Care Act 2014, along with locally agreed standards such as the Norfolk 
Domestic Abuse Charter, through regular audits, required by Norfolk’s 
Safeguarding Adults, Children’s and Domestic Abuse Boards.

 To work closely with a wide range of partner agencies, to build trust and provide 
robust challenge, to promote effective safeguarding activity in the District.

 To ensure that all cases are collated, recorded, reported and reviewed, and all 
requests for information are responded to within the required timescales to support 
case reviews, inspections, etc.

G) Chief Executive and Management Team
The Chief Executive leads and promotes the Council’s work to identify, respond to and 
prevent abuse and neglect, in line with national legislation and local guidance. The 
Chief Executive must assure themselves that safeguarding systems and practices 
within the Council are effective. 

The Council’s Senior Management Team must ensure that resources are available to 
support staff, councillors, volunteers, contractors and consultants, including lead 
officer time, training budgets, etc. and ensure appropriate scrutiny and reporting 
arrangements are in place to review legal compliance with safeguarding requirements.

The Chief Executive as Head of Paid Service is responsible for recruitment and 
disciplinary action in relation to all staff.

H) All councillors need a good understanding of safeguarding and the need to 
balance this with empowerment. All councillors must read this Policy, adhering to this 
at all times and undertaking appropriate training. Councillors attending Norfolk Health 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Health and Wellbeing Boards (HWBs) and County 
Community Safety Partnership all play a further role in assuring local safeguarding 
measures are effective and accountable. 

I) The Executive member for Place is the Lead Councillor for Operational 
Safeguarding.

J) Political Group Leaders will be involved in matters relating to councillors in their 
Political Group, including requiring them to read and act in accordance with this Policy 
and undertake appropriate training. Group Leaders will be informed immediately of 
any safeguarding allegations or complaints about members of their group and may 
need to work with the Council’s Monitoring Officer to determine what action, if any, is 
required. 

K) The Monitoring Officer ensures that the Council, its officers and its councillors 
maintain the highest standard of conduct in all they do. The Monitoring Officer is likely 
to be involved in advising political group leaders regarding member conduct.

L) The Licensing Committee operates under the Licensing Act 2003 and the 
Gambling Act 2005, requiring members of the Committee to protect children and other 
vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling. Committee members 
must complete appropriate training in order to serve on this Committee.

62

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2005/19/contents


7

M) Cabinet or Executive Member approves this Safeguarding Policy and procedures 

N) The Council as a Commissioner of Services from Key Contractors
Where a Council commissions services from key contractors, it retains a legal duty to 
assure itself of the quality and safety of their safeguarding arrangements, holding 
them to account for preventing and dealing promptly and appropriately with any 
examples of abuse and neglect. Staff and volunteers in these agencies will have 
different levels and types of contact with children, young people and adults, but all are 
required to be alert to safeguarding concerns, recording details of these and any 
actions taken in response, reporting these to their manager and to the relevant 
agencies where further action is needed. BDC key contractors are Anglia Revenue 
Partnership, Capita, Serco, and BDC requires these agencies to complete three-yearly 
Section 11 (children’s) audit reviews and annual updates on progress and to share 
their annual Modern Slavery Statements.

O) Community and Voluntary Organisations
Where the Council makes grants to community and voluntary organisations, these 
should have appropriate safeguarding policies in place. 

Anyone who does not believe they can comply with this Policy should speak 
to the Designated Safeguarding Officer.

Policy Overview

This Policy aims to protect all children, young people and adults who need 
safeguarding (including employees, apprentices and those on work experience); those 
who use our services or are cared for by others who use our services; and those with 
whom our staff, councillors, volunteers, commissioned contractors and consultants 
have contact. It aims to:

 Provide guidance for staff, councillors, volunteers, contractors and consultants 
acting on behalf of the Council, protecting the Council and those individuals from 
failing to take safeguarding actions;

 Ensure a person-centered approach which puts people’s own needs and wishes 
first, hears their voice, respects their views and upholds their human rights;

 Achieve the best possible outcomes for all individuals, including enabling all 
children  and young people to Stay Safe, Be Healthy, Enjoy and Achieve, Make a 
Positive Contribution and Achieve Economic Wellbeing (Children Act 2004);

 Secure stable relationships with professionals built on trust but with respectful 
challenge if required;

 Provide consistent support to help people to meet their individual needs, with all 
decisions taken in line with the Mental Capacity Act (MCA) 2005;

 Ensure that everyone gets the support they need before a problem escalates;

 Provide a proportionate, timely, supportive, informed and professional response to 
anyone experiencing abuse or neglect;

 Ensure that the Council plays its full role in safeguarding and promoting the health 
and welfare of all children, young people and adults, at all times;  

63

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2005/9/contents


8

 Create a safe and healthy environment within all of our services, avoiding 
situations where abuse or allegations of abuse may occur.

The Council will:

 Work within national legislation and guidance.

 Be an active member of multi-agency partnerships in Norfolk including Norfolk 
Safeguarding Adults Board (NSAB) Norfolk Safeguarding Children Board (NSCB), 
Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence Board (DASVB), Multi Agency Public Protection 
Arrangements (MAPPA) and Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conference (MARAC) 
processes and Channel / Prevent protocols. 

 Prevent harm and minimise risks by working closely with other agencies, supporting 
risk assessments and providing proactive support.

 Designate a Lead Councillor to oversee and a Senior Manager to manage the 
Council’s safeguarding activity.

 Listen to and respect individual’s wishes and feelings, empowering and supporting 
them to make their own choices, and promoting their rights, including publicising 
routes for self-referral. 

 Respond to concerns, unmet needs and emerging issues quickly and in the 
individual’s best interests.

 Develop, implement and maintain effective procedures for recording, tracking and 
learning from incidents and how these were handled.

 Implement safer recruitment procedures. 

 Identify training needs, develop plans and provide appropriate training for staff, 
councillors, volunteers and key contractors to enable them to recognise signs of 
potential harm and to act on any concerns in line with this policy.

 Ensure ongoing supervision and support, in particular for those staff most likely to 
be dealing with those at risk of abuse or neglect.

 Develop safe working practices and environments which reduce the risk and avoid 
situations where abuse or allegations of abuse may occur.

 Aid staff, councillors, volunteers, key contractors and consultants to respond 
sensitively and seriously to anyone who discloses information about abuse, ensuring 
that they are confident to take appropriate action regardless of whom the allegation 
is about (e.g. carer, staff, councillor, partner agency, etc.).

 Develop and implement effective procedures for recording and responding to 
complaints of alleged or suspected abuse by staff, councillors, volunteers, key 
contractors or consultants, ensuring they receive appropriate advice.

 Raise awareness of the Council’s responsibilities throughout the organisation, 
actively encouraging good practice and promoting wider awareness where possible 
e.g. through partnerships and other user groups.

 Actively reflect on the Safeguarding Policy, Procedures and Practice, reporting 
regularly to the Executive Member.

64



9

Components of Safeguarding

This Policy covers six key components, each with an associated procedure guide:

 Safeguarding Children and Young People
 Safeguarding Adults at Risk
 Domestic Abuse
 Preventing Violent Extremism
 Modern Slavery and Human Trafficking
 Hate Crime and Mate Crime

Safeguarding Children and Young People

The Children Act 2004 places a statutory duty on all agencies to safeguard and 
promote the welfare of children. The statutory guidance Working Together 2018, 
defines this as: 

 Protecting children from maltreatment;
 Preventing impairment of children’s health or development;
 Ensuring that children grow up in circumstances consistent with the provision of 

safe and effective care; and
 Taking action to enable all children to have the best outcomes.

The Children Act requires agencies to co-operate through the Norfolk Safeguarding 
Childrens Board (NSAB) to take co-ordinated action where there is evidence of abuse 
and neglect, to identify and prevent Child Sexual Exploitation, to safeguard the 
victims, to review and understand what occurred, and to make every effort to prevent 
this occurring again. 

The NSCB develops local guidance in response to issues arising from case reviews such 
as the Pre-Birth Protocol. 

If you have any concerns that a child, young person is at risk of significant harm or 
that through early intervention agencies working together could offer help or support, 
follow the Child Safeguarding Procedures.

Safeguarding Adults at Risk

The Care Act 2014 defines safeguarding as protecting an adult’s right to live in 
safety, free from abuse and neglect. It requires people and organisations to work 
together to prevent and stop the risk and experience of abuse or neglect, and at the 
same time to ensure that the adult’s wellbeing is being promoted.

The Care Act 2014 and Care and Support Statutory Guidance 2016 require all 
agencies to identify, record, respond to, investigate and report concerns which might 
indicate that an adult is experiencing or is at risk of experiencing abuse and neglect, 
always taking account of the needs and wishes of the individual. It requires agencies 
to co-operate through the Norfolk Safeguarding Adults Board (NSAB) to take co-
ordinated action where there is evidence of abuse and neglect, to safeguard the 
victims, to review and understand what occurred, and to make every effort to prevent 
this occurring again. 

District Councils co-operate fully with Multi-Agency Public Protection Arrangements 
(MAPPA) to manage registered sex offenders, violent and other offenders who pose a 
risk of serious harm to the public.

65

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/contents
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/722305/Working_Together_to_Safeguard_Children_-_Guide.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/contents
https://www.norfolklscb.org/about/policies-procedures/5-21-pre-birth-protocol/
https://www.norfolklscb.org/about/policies-procedures/5-8-safeguarding-children-and-young-people-from-child-sexual-exploitation-policy-procedures-and-guidance/
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/23/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/23/contents/enacted
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/care-act-statutory-guidance/care-and-support-statutory-guidance


10

The Care Act specifically refers to safeguarding people who experience difficulty and 
require support as a result of hoarding behaviours. Hoarding is beyond collecting and 
in extreme cases puts the individual, and potentially others, at risk of harm. Local 
guidance in the form of a multi-agency protocol will be available shortly.

If you have any concerns that adult with needs for support and care is at risk of 
significant harm, follow the Adult Safeguarding Procedures.

Domestic Abuse

The ‘Call to End Violence Against Women and Girls’ Report and The Ending Violence 
against Women and Girls Strategy (2016-2020) outline the need for a multi-agency 
response  to support high risk victims with a commitment to preventative action to 
reduce domestic abuse. These recognise that men and boys are also victims of 
domestic abuse, challenging established attitudes and beliefs. 

The Norfolk Community Safety Partnership (NCSP) has identified domestic abuse as a 
priority. Reporting to the NCSP, the Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence Board 
(DASVB) takes responsibility for delivering action to reduce domestic abuse, creating 
an environment where domestic abuse is not tolerated and seeking to reduce the 
impact on victims. Developed in consultation with partner agencies, councillors and 
with victims and survivors of domestic abuse, Norfolk’s Domestic Abuse Strategy and 
Delivery Plan sets the vision and direction for tackling domestic abuse.  

Under the DASVB sits a number of operational subgroups and working groups which 
meet to deliver on the various objectives associated with this strategy these include:

 That domestic abuse will not be tolerated.

 That domestic abuse is not the fault of the victim.

 That staff and managers should be aware of domestic abuse, its impact and how 
to respond appropriately.

 That partner agencies must work together to provide a joined up approach when 
responding to domestic abuse situations.

 That prevention, provision of services and partnership working in relation to 
domestic abuse remains a priority.

 That there is a commitment to justice for victims and reduction in risk.

District Councils co-operate fully with Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conferences 
(MARACs) where information about high risk domestic abuse victims (those at risk of 
murder or serious harm) is shared to develop a risk-focused, co-ordinated safety plan 
to support the victim, ensuring their voice is heard through the Independent Domestic 
Violence Advisor (IDVA).

If you suspect or become aware that someone is experiencing Domestic Abuse, 
follow the Domestic Abuse Procedures.

Radicalisation and Extremism: Prevent/Channel

Whilst there is no specific terror threat to Norfolk, everyone has an important role to 
play in identifying and preventing people from becoming radicalised into extremist 
violence. Section 26 of the Counter-Terrorism and Security Act 2015 placed a Prevent 
Duty on all local authorities, requiring councils to have “due regard to the need to 

66

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2015/6/section/26


11

prevent people from being drawn into terrorism”. Channel is part of the Prevent 
Strategy, nationally and locally, to intervene early to prevent people becoming 
radicalised into violent extremism. Norfolk’s Prevent Strategy (2016 - 19) aims to 
empower all communities and to stand up to the small minority who support violent 
extremism

For more information, refer to the Prevent/Channel Procedure. 

Modern Slavery and Human Trafficking

Human trafficking is the movement of a person from one place to another into 
conditions of exploitation, using deception, coercion, the abuse of power of the abuse 
of someone’s vulnerability. The Modern Slavery Act 2015 unified and simplified 
previous legislation, giving law enforcement agencies new powers, increasing 
sentencing and protection for survivors. It requires organisations, including Councils, 
to take steps to ensure that there is no slavery or human trafficking in their own 
operations or their supply chains, and to publish an annual Modern Slavery 
Transparency Statement to provide assurance of this. 

For more information, refer to the Modern Slavery & Human Trafficking 
Procedure.

Hate Crime and Mate Crime

Crimes committed because of someone’s disability, gender identity, race, religion / 
belief, or sexual orientation are hate crimes. Hate crimes include: threatening 
behaviour, assault, robbery, damage to property, inciting others to commit hate 
crimes, and harassment. Hate crimes must be reported to the police. Mate crime is a 
form of crime in which a perpetrator befriends a vulnerable person with the intention 
of then exploiting them financially, physically or sexually.
 
The Council is committed to reducing Hate and Mate Crime, identified as a priority of 
Norfolk Community Safety Partnership. The Norfolk Community Safety Partnership’s 
Priorities are:

 Domestic abuse & sexual offences

 Preventing Extremism & Radicalisation

 County Lines

For more information, refer to the Hate Crime and Mate Crime Procedures.

Recognising Potential Abuse

Even though staff, councillors, volunteers, contractors and consultants may have 
limited contact with children and adults with needs for care and support as part of 
their duties, everyone must be aware of the potential indicators of abuse and know 
about what to do if you have concerns. Recognising abuse is not easy. Everyone is 
unique. It is difficult to predict how behavior may change as a result of abuse. In all 
forms of abuse, there are elements of emotional abuse. Some people are subjected 
to more than one form of abuse at any one time.

Listed below are some physical and behavioural indicators that may be commonly 
seen in children, young people and adults who are abused. Everyone will exhibit some 
of these indicators at some time. You may see one, none or several of these, but 

67

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2015/30/contents/enacted


12

remember they are only an indication and not confirmation or proof that abuse is 
taking place.

It is not your responsibility to decide whether or not abuse has taken place or if a child, 
young person or adult is at significant risk. But you must act if you have concerns 
and pass on the information. 

Child abuse or maltreatment is:

All forms of:

 Physical ill treatment
 Sexual abuse
 Emotional ill treatment
 Neglect
 Discriminatory abuse

Abuse may consist of actual or 
potential harm to the child’s health, 
survival, development or dignity in 
the context of a relationship of 
responsibility, trust or power.

Adult abuse or maltreatment is:

All forms of:

 Physical abuse
 Sexual abuse
 Emotional or psychological abuse
 Financial or material abuse
 Self-neglect or acts of omission
 Neglect by others
 Institutional abuse
 Discriminatory abuse

Abuse may consist of a single act or 
repeated acts. It can occur in any 
relationship and may result in 
significant harm to, or exploitation of, 
the person subjected to it.

Physical Abuse:

Hitting, slapping, pushing, kicking, 
misuse of medication, being locked in a 
room, inappropriate sanctions, force-
feeding, inappropriate methods of 
restraint, and unlawfully depriving a 
person of their liberty.

 Unexplained injury or injury that is 
not consistent with the 
explanation given 

 Unexplained fractures/repeated 
admissions to hospitals

 Flinching when approached/being 
unwilling to cooperate with 
personal care

 Bruising suggesting systematic 
injury, in the shape of objects or 
finger marks

Emotional or Psychological Abuse: 

Includes threats of harm or 
abandonment, deprivation of contact, 
humiliation, rejection, blaming, 
controlling, intimidation, coercion, 
indifference, harassment, verbal abuse 
(including shouting or swearing), and 
isolation or withdrawal from services or 
support, unexplained injury or injury not 
consistent with the explanation given

 Untypical ambivalence, deference, 
passivity, resignation

 Person appears anxious or withdrawn, 
especially in the presence of the 
alleged abuser

 Person exhibits low self-esteem
 Untypical changes in behaviour (e.g. 

incontinence, sleep disturbance)

68



13

Sexual Abuse:

Forcing or enticing a person to take 
part in sexual activities, whether or not 
they are aware of or consent to what is 
happening. May involve penetrative or 
non-penetrative contact and/or looking 
at or being involved in pornography or 
prostitution.

 Inappropriate sexual behavior
 Promiscuity
 Sudden changes in behavior
 Running away from home 

(Children who go missing)
 Emotional withdrawal through lack 

of trust in adults
 Unexplained money or gifts
 Inappropriate sexually explicit 

drawings or stories
 Bedwetting or soiling
 Overeating or anorexia
 Sleep disturbances
 Secrets which cannot be told
 Substance/drug misuse

Financial Abuse:

Theft, fraud, exploitation, pressure in 
connection with wills or property and 
misappropriation of property or 
benefits. It also includes withholding of 
money or unauthorised or improper 
use of a person’s money or property. 
Staff borrowing money or objects from 
a service user is also considered 
financial abuse.

 Lack of money, especially after 
benefit day

 Inadequately explained withdrawals 
from ac counts

 Disparity between assets/income 
and living conditions

 Disappearance of bank statements, 
other documents or valuables

 Loans or credit being taken out

Discriminatory neglect:

May be a factor within any of the other 
categories of abuse and is motivated 
by oppressive and discriminatory 
attitudes towards a person based on 
their disability, race, gender, religion 
or belief, cultural background, sexual 
orientation or appearance

• Unequal treatment
• Verbal abuse
• Inappropriate use of language
• Slurs
• Harassment
• Deliberate exclusion
• Assumptions based on stereo typical 

ideas held about one aspect of a 
person

Neglect:

Self-neglect and neglect by others 
can be characterised as not 
responding to a person’s basic needs. 
Those who self-neglect often live in 
extreme conditions of squalor and can 
have a tendency to hoard.

• Has inadequate heating and/or 
lighting

• Poor physical condition / 
appearance (e.g. ulcers, 
pressure sores, soiled/wet 
clothing)

• Is malnourished, has sudden or 
continuous weight loss and/or is 
dehydrated

• Cannot access / refuses appropriate 
medication or medical care

• Is not afforded appropriate privacy 
or dignity

• Person and/or a carer has 
inconsistent or reluctant contact 
with health and social services

• Callers/visitors are refused access 
• Is exposed to unacceptable risk

69



14

Cultural Abuse
There is an increased incidence and awareness of the need to be alert to cultural 
abuse. There are a number of different issues under this heading:

Honour-Based Violence is a crime, and referral to the police must always be 
considered. It has or may have been committed when families feel that dishonor has 
been brought to them, often but not always by a young female relative. The victims 
and the violence are often committed with a degree of collusion from family members 
and the community. Many victims do contact the police or other organisations but 
others are isolated and controlled so they cannot to seek help.

Female Genital Mutilation (FGM) involves procedures that intentionally alter or 
injure female genital organs for non-medical reasons, with health benefit but 
significant physical, mental and emotional harm. The Female Genital Mutilation Act, 
introduced in 2003 and effective from March 2004, makes it illegal to practice FGM 
in the UK or to take girls who are British nationals or permanent UK residents abroad 
for FGM, whether or not it is lawful in another country. It makes it illegal to aid, abet, 
counsel or procure the carrying out of FGM abroad. It also places a legal duty on 
individual staff to report all incidents to the Police.

Forced Marriage describes a marriage in which one or both of the parties is married 
without their consent or against their will. This differs from an arranged marriage, in 
which both parties consent to the assistance of their parents or a third party in 
identifying a spouse. Where there is concern that an adult at risk is being forced into 
a marriage they do not or cannot consent to, there will be an overlap between action 
taken under the forced marriage provisions and the Safeguarding Adults process. 
Action will be co-ordinated with the Police and other relevant organisations but the 
Police must always be contacted in the first instance as urgent action may be 
needed.

Equality

Everyone, regardless of background, should be given the same level of support and 
protection. Regard should always be given to a person’s religion or belief. 

People with disabilities, migrant adults and children, unaccompanied asylum-seeking 
children (UASC), victims of trafficking, domestic abuse and bullying may have 
additional care needs and this should be remembered when considering the 
behavioural indicators. 

Mental Capacity

The Mental Capacity Act (MCA) 2005 requires an assumption that all adults and all 
young people aged 16 or over have full legal capacity to make decisions unless it can 
be shown that they lack capacity to make a decision for themselves at the time that 
the decision needs to be made. Individuals must be given all appropriate help and 
support to enable them to make their own decisions or to maximise their participation 
in any decision-making process. Unwise decisions do not necessarily indicate 
lack of capacity. 

Any decision made, or action taken, on behalf of someone who lacks the capacity to 
make the decision or act for themselves must be made in their best interests. An 
individual’s mental capacity must be considered at each stage of the process. More 
information can be found in the Safeguarding Adults Guidance and Procedures.

70

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/31/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2005/9/contents


15

Always exercise professional curiosity. This is the ability to ask proactive questions 
rather than making assumptions or reaching conclusions not based on assessment of 
history and current circumstances. Never be frightened to ask the obvious question 
to look beneath the surface rather than accepting everything at face value. 

Professional curiosity is much more likely if practitioners:
 have good quality training to help them develop
 have access to good management, support and supervision to review challenging 

and potentially upsetting situations
 have time to review the lived experience of children and families and undertake 

regular assessment to ensure new information and developments are reflected
 have capacity to keep 'working away' to find what might have happened.

Always exercise respectful uncertainty considering and where necessary challenging 
the responses. People do not always tell the truth, sometimes to deny a situation to 
avoid detection or because they are afraid.

Always consider and record the specific circumstances and wider context: does the 
person have mental capacity, are others at risk, is there an emerging pattern, have 
others witnessed this, what is the role of family members and/or paid staff? 

Always try to see all family members separately. When that is not possible, and 
particularly when a person (this could be an adult or a child) is not being allowed to 
be seen alone, be particularly alert: for example, when someone:
 waits for her/his partner to speak first
 glances at her/his partner each time (s)he speaks, checking her/his reaction
 smoothes over any conflict
 speaks for most of the time stopping others speaking
 sends clear signals by eye / body movement, facial expression or verbally, to warn 

the other person
 has a range of complaints about the other person, which (s)he does not deny.

If you are not sure how to proceed, test your concerns with a colleague or your 
manager. A "fresh pair of eyes" can help to assess concerns and maintain good 
practice standards. Discuss any disagreement with your manager. 

If you are still not sure what to do, or do not agree with their advice, speak to the 
Designated Safeguarding Officer. If they are not available either: contact BDC 
Customer Service Centre for advice or, if the situation is urgent, make the referral. 
Keep a record of who you speak to and their response. If you report an issue to the 
Customer Service Centre, do this yourself or give the information to your manager to 
limit the number of “hand-ons”.

Always, as soon as possible, make a factual record of everything that has happened, 
was said and was seen. Also record whether the issue was referred on or not, and the 
reasons in either case. Records must be accurate, legible, signed and dated.

Inter-Agency Disputes, Escalation Policies & Challenge Logs

If you are concerned about or unhappy with the decisions or action / lack of action of 
another agency when referring a case or securing their involvement in supporting an 
individual, this can be escalated by the Designated Safeguarding Officer or their 

Professional Curiosity and Respectful Uncertainty

71



16

Deputy. The NSCB and NSAB’s Escalation Policies and Protocols require Designated 
Safeguarding Officers in all agencies to act on issues which are escalated to them by 
partners, challenging their own staff regarding the concerns raised and seeking 
assurance about the appropriateness of decisions and actions. 

The NSCB and NSAB maintain records of any challenges made, to identify issues which 
might require additional local guidance to provide clarification for the future.

Confidentiality, Information Sharing and Consent

Personal information held by professionals and agencies is subject to a legal duty of 
confidentiality. Information would normally only be disclosed to third parties, including 
other organisations, with the consent of the subject of the information. In most cases 
you will ask for and receive their consent to share. However, in some situations, there 
may be times when it is necessary to disclose information without the subject’s 
consent. 

You cannot promise someone that you will keep their situation totally confidential. You 
should always make them aware at the earliest opportunity that you may need to 
share information with others in order to safeguard and support them. You should 
always seek their consent to share information. However, consent may not be needed 
for a referral, for example if the person lacks mental capacity. 

You should make every effort to maintain confidentiality for all concerned in an incident 
by sharing information appropriately and only on a “need to know” basis. Do not 
discuss allegations or concerns inappropriately as this could damage the individual, 
their family and any resulting investigation. 

Confidential information should always be stored securely with access limited to the 
Service Manager and/or Designated Safeguarding Officer, in line with data protection 
laws e.g. paper records in a lockable drawer, electronic data in a secure folder and/or 
password protected. Electronic data should be sent only by secure email.

Sharing information appropriately with other agencies protects people and prevents 
harm. Information sharing is key to delivering better, more efficient public services 
that are co-ordinated around the needs of the individual. It is vital to enable early 
intervention and prevention work, for safeguarding and promoting wellbeing and for 
wider public protection, to improve outcomes for all. 

Knowing when and how to share information is not always easy but it is important to 
get it right. People need to be confident that their personal information is kept safe 
and secure and that their individual privacy is considered and safeguarded. It is 
essential to share information appropriately and confidently. 

You must be aware of and adhere to information sharing protocols and data protection 
regulations, always recording who information has been shared with and on what 
basis. 

Deciding 'Who needs to know' and 'What needs to be known' should be done on a case 
by case basis in line with agency policies and national legislation. 

Before you share information, ask yourself the following questions:
 Do I have the person’s permission to disclose personal information?

 
If not: 

72



17

 Do I have the legal power to disclose this information?
 Is there a duty to protect the wider public interest, are other people at risk? 
 Am I proposing to share information with due regard to common and statute law?
 Do I have the correct level of seniority to disclose this information? 

Examples of Legitimate Purposes to share information without consent include: 
 Where a child is experiencing abuse or harm caused by their parent / carer (e.g. 

fabricated or induced illness), the parent’s consent should not be sought.
 Preventing serious harm; including through prevention, detention and 

prosecution of a serious crime.
 Providing urgent medical treatment  
 Implementing specific actions required by the Care Act 2014. 

If a child over 16 or an adult lacks capacity to consent to sharing information, then 
any information disclosed must comply with the Mental Capacity Act and Data 
Protection Act 2018.

Sharing information that may be in the public interest includes: 
 When there is reasonable cause to believe someone is suffering, or is at risk of 

suffering serious harm 
 To prevent the person from harming someone else 
 To promote the wellbeing of the person 
 Detecting crime 
 Apprehending offenders 
 Maintaining public safety. 

The Data Protection Act is not a barrier to sharing information but provides a 
framework to ensure that personal information about living persons is shared 
appropriately. 

There are Seven Golden Rules for Information Sharing

Be open and honest Be open and honest with the person (and/or their family 
where appropriate) from the outset about why, what, how 
and with whom information will or could be shared and 
seek their agreement, unless it is unsafe or inappropriate 
to do so.

Seek advice If you are in any doubt, seek advice from the Designated 
Safeguarding Officer, their Deputy or the Information 
Governance Officer, without disclosing the identity of the 
person if possible.

Share with consent Where appropriate and, where possible, respect the 
wishes of those who do not consent to share confidential 
information. You may still share information without 
consent if, in your judgment, that lack of consent can be 
overridden in the public interest. You will need to base 
your judgment on the facts of the case. Seek advice if you 
are not sure.

Consider safety and 
well-being

Base your information sharing decisions on considerations 
of the safety and wellbeing of the person and others who 
may be affected by their actions.

Necessary, 
proportionate, 

Ensure that the information you share is necessary for the 
purpose for which you are sharing it, is shared only with 

73

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/23/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2005/9/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2018/12/pdfs/ukpga_20180012_en.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2018/12/pdfs/ukpga_20180012_en.pdf


18

relevant, accurate, 
timely and secure

those who need to have it, is accurate and up-to-date, is 
shared in a timely fashion and is shared securely.

Keep a record Keep accurate records of your concerns, your decision and 
the reasons for it, whether it is to share information or 
not. If you decide to share, then record what you have 
shared, with whom and for what purpose.

Enquiries from those involved in an incident or from their families or carers should be 
dealt with by the case officer or their line manager. Always be cautious about sharing 
information with family members where this may put other relatives at risk. You may 
need consent to share even within families.

Where councillors refer cases to officers, they should seek the person’s consent, if 
possible in writing. Officers cannot share information with councillors without the 
consent of the person involved.

The Council does not disclose details about individuals or incidents to the public or to 
the media. Such enquiries should be directed to Communications Team Leader.

Enquiries from the general public regarding this policy or any specific incident should 
be referred to the Designated Safeguarding Officer.

Record Keeping

Records must always be made with great care. They will almost always be open to 
inspection by others, including those about whom they are made; they may be 
required as evidence in case reviews of legal proceedings. 

Good records are factual, accurate, legible, comprehensive and made as soon after 
the incident as possible. They include direct evidence, such as the words used by 
individuals themselves, and specific information, such as the exact location of an injury 
(e.g. bruising ‘on the left lower forearm just above the wrist’, rather than ‘on the arm’). 
Diagrams which explain family relationships, layouts of locations, or locations of 
injuries are helpful.

When making records, do not:
 Make value judgements about those involved
 Criticise those involved for their behaviours, attitudes, beliefs or actions
 Use jargon, slang, derogatory or negative language about victims or perpetrators
 Use abbreviations which are not explained
 Speculate or make assumptions about someone’s explanations or actions. 

Speculating makes assumptions; professional curiosity teases out concerns and 
prevents assumptions being made.

Always record:
 The date and time of the incident
 The person’s name, address and date of birth
 The nature of the allegation or incident and, if possible, the name, address, date of 

birth or any others involved, including the employer of anyone alleged to have 
caused the harm.

 Factual observations: visible injuries, the person’s behavior / physical / emotional 
state, etc.

 Exactly what they said, using their own words, and exactly what you said.
 Their consent to share the information.
 All actions you took: who you spoke to and all resulting actions so far. Include 

names, addresses and telephone numbers wherever possible.
 Sign and date your record and store the information securely.

74



19

 Consider whether the person needs adding to the Council’s Cautionary Contacts 
list. If you feel that staff, councillors, volunteers, contractors or consultants may 
be at risk of harm from the person, seek advice from the Data Protection Officer.

Where there is a case file for the person, your record should be stored on their file.

For every safeguarding incident, email a brief anonymised summary of the issue and 
all action taken to the Safeguarding Officer. 

Staff without IT access should telephone the Safeguarding Officer.

Photography and Pornography

Data protection legislation applies to photographic and film materials. People have a 
right to privacy. Some people have used children and young persons’ activities and 
events as an opportunity to take inappropriate photographs or video footage of 
children and young people. 

Staff, councillors, volunteers, contractors and consultants should not take photographs 
or video of children involved in Council or community based activities to which they 
are invited unless they have sought and received consent for this. Where material is 
produced by or for the Council, the consent of those appearing in any pictures should 
always be sought. Details of such materials should listed be on each service’s 
information retention schedules and kept / destroyed in line with these.

Where members of the public may expect to take photographs (e.g. birthday parties, 
sports competitions, etc.), staff, councillors, volunteers, contractors and consultants 
and anyone working for and/or on behalf of the Council should be vigilant at all times. 
In such cases, a respectful request to provide identification and contact details should 
be made. Always report any activity you deem to be inappropriate at the earliest 
opportunity to staff attending the event, to the manager of the service or event, to 
the Designated Safeguarding Officer or to the Police. This is a judgement call balancing 
the protection of individuals and the expectations of the customer. 

Recruitment, Induction and Training, Supervision and Appraisal

Recruitment
The Council takes all reasonable steps to ensure that unsuitable people are prevented 
from working with children, young people and adults at risk, through safer recruitment 
and verification processes. These are detailed in the Council’s Recruitment Policy and 
all Council staff are appointed in line with these. 

Pre-selection checks for all relevant posts include: 
 Completion of an application form and a criminal records self-disclosure.
 Where appropriate, consent to check with the Disclosure and Barring Service 

(DBS) for previous convictions.
 Receipt of 2 references for the 3 years prior to the application and, if there has 

been a period of unemployment, references from other professionals e.g. GP.
 Substantiation of identity and qualifications.

Where an employee changes roles internally, the new manager must view the person’s 
previous application form to assure themselves they are suitable for the proposed new 
role or to seek further information, and undertake a DBS check if this was not required 
for the previous role, before confirming the appointment. 

75



20

All anomalies are investigated and if this identifies concerns which cannot be resolved, 
the offer of employment is withdrawn. 

Managers appointing agency staff must always check that the agency has carried out 
appropriate checks.

DBS standard, enhanced and enhanced with barred list checks are undertaken for all 
staff whose role involves working with children young people and adults at risk as part 
of their normal duties, where this falls within the definition of ‘regulated activity’ under 
the Safeguarding Vulnerable Groups Act 2006, as amended by the Protection of 
Freedoms Act 2012. Other staff may be checked through the Basic Disclosure process 
where their role is not covered by DBS but it is felt to be necessary. The Council does 
not accept checks by previous employers or for other current activities. The list of 
checks completed, and those due, is held by the HR team. There is a 3-year 
programme of DBS renewal checks for those staff that require this as part of their role.

Councillors are not employees. Legislation states that DBS checks for councillors are 
not required unless they hold a specific role in relation to children and adults. 
Councillors are bound by the Council’s Code of Conduct and the requirements of the 
Constitution. They are required to abide by this policy at all times.

The Council takes care that contractors and consultants working on its behalf are 
recruited, informed and monitored appropriately. Contractors and consultants sourced 
through frameworks through Breckland District Council Procurement have already 
provided evidence of safeguarding compliance. 

Managers using the services of any contractor or consultant in areas where they or 
their staff may come into contact with children or adults with needs of care and 
support, must check that they have their own Safeguarding Policy or can demonstrate 
that they will comply with this policy, confirming in writing that they will do so, and 
that appropriate DBS checks are in place. 

Induction and Training
Appropriate induction and training enables staff to understand their roles and 
responsibilities, develop good practice and act confidently. It encourages reporting of 
good and poor practice, concerns or allegations of abuse. It supports the personal 
development and wellbeing of staff involved in dealing with cases.

All new and existing staff are required to read this Policy and Procedures; all managers 
must check that all new and existing staff have done so. Those staff without computer 
access receive a hard copy. 

Managers must clarify specific role-related expectations regarding safeguarding at 
induction with new staff, and with existing staff in supervision and appraisal. This gives 
the opportunity for clarification and support to be sought and provided, giving 
everyone assurance of compliance with the Council’s legal duties. 

Discussing specific cases as they occur, through regular supervision, Team Meetings 
and annual appraisals enable ongoing training needs to be identified and met for 
individuals and teams. 

Managers will agree a timeframe for completing the minimum required safeguarding 
training for the role. 

Training for councillors is included in the Councillor Induction Programme following an 
election and regularly after that point.

76

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/47/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/9/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/9/contents


21

Compliance with completing training will be audited by the Safeguarding Officer from 
time to time to monitor compliance. 

Supervision and Appraisal
People work best when they are well informed, trained and supported. Supervision 
should improve the quality of practice, support the development of integrated working 
and ensure continuing professional development. Effective supervision involves 
regular face-to-face discussion with skilled managers, including reflective practice, to 
enable staff to work confidently and competently with difficult and sensitive situations. 
This includes:

 Ensuring that service users and their carers receive a quality service
 Enabling understanding and implementation of policies and procedures
 Supporting staff to be clear about their responsibilities and accountabilities
 Giving staff opportunities to reflect on, analyse and evaluate practice
 Giving staff opportunities to discuss best practice and safeguarding concerns
 Providing personal support when dealing with difficult cases.

Staff leading on Team Around the Child (TAC) cases, dealing directly with complex or 
distressing cases, involved in case reviews or court cases, etc will need and should 
receive appropriate support from their manager, the Designated Safeguarding Officer 
or their Deputy. This may include regular and ad hoc de-briefs, and opportunities to 
seek external support for their wellbeing if required.
Appraisals should always include discussion of the safeguarding responsibilities of the 
role and training and development needs. To support personal development and 
professional competence, manager can identify good practice through:
 Direct observation of the activity or service
 Undertaking case file audits, where appropriate
 Reviewing service user’s feedback on the activities or services.

Team Meetings should also include regular agenda items to share safeguarding 
information, concerns and best practice.

Support to Staff Experiencing Abuse

Members of staff who experience domestic abuse, or know someone who is, can seek 
advice from the Designated Safeguarding Lead and Deputy’s. Support is also available 
from the employer assistance scheme.

Safe Working Practices

The following guidelines promote positive, safe working practices. They  examples of 
care which should be taken by staff, councillors, volunteers and contractors working 
with children, young people and adults with needs for care and support. Following 
these promotes the safety and wellbeing of children, young people and adults with 
needs for care and support, and reduces the risk of allegations against those working 
with them.

Staff, councillors, volunteers or contractors should always:

 Avoid situations where you and an individual are alone and unobserved.
 Ensure that children or young people are not left unattended. For example, it is 

the parents / carers responsibility to supervise any children in their care whilst 
visiting Council offices, or when an employee, councillor, volunteer or contractor 
is carrying out a home visit.

 How official identification when carrying out home visits
 Ensure that children and adults with needs for care and support have the right to 

77



22

privacy. Respect the individual and provide a safe and positive environment.
 Respect the rights, dignity and worth of every person and treat everyone equally 

within the context of the activity.
 If someone is accidentally injured as a result of an employee, councillor or 

volunteer’s actions; seems distressed in any way; seems to be sexually aroused 
by your actions; misunderstands or misinterprets something you have done; 
report this as soon as possible to the Designated Safeguarding Officer and make a 
written record.

 If someone shows any signs or symptoms that give you cause for concern you 
must act appropriately, be professionally curious, and follow the procedures 
outlined in appendices of this policy

It is not good practice for staff, councillors, volunteers or contractors to:

 Take children or adults with needs for care and support alone on a car journey, 
however short.

 Take children or adults with needs for care and support to their own home or any 
other location where they will be alone with you.

 Arrange to meet children or adult with needs for care and support outside an 
organised activity or service.

 Agree to ‘look after’ or be left in sole charge of children or adults with needs for 
care and support even for short periods of time during the course of your duties.

Staff, councillors and volunteers should never:

 Engage in rough physical games including horseplay.
 Engage in sexually provocative games.
 Allow or engage in inappropriate touching of any form.
 Allow anyone to use inappropriate language unchallenged, or use it yourself.
 Make sexually suggestive comments about or to a child or adult, even in fun.
 Let any allegation a child or adult makes be ignored or go unrecorded.
 Do things of a personal nature for children or adults that they can do for 

themselves, e.g. assist with changing.
 Enter areas designated only for the opposite sex without appropriate warning (e.g. 

cleaning staff for toilets etc.).
 Take a child or adult to the toilet, unless this is an emergency and a second, same-

sex member of staff is present.
 Use a mobile phone, camera or other recording device in any changing area or 

other single sex location such as toilets. Exceptions to this may arise, for example, 
where a photographic record of vandalism to a changing room is required. In such 
circumstances customers should be temporarily excluded from the location.

Responding to allegations and/or abuse and neglect by employees

If abuse or neglect is alleged or found to be carried out by an employee, the Council 
will always act. The Designated Safeguarding Officer will notify and seek advice from 
the Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO) if children are involved, and will alert 
and work with other agencies to ensure that the complainant is protected and their 
wellbeing supported. The Designated Safeguarding Officer will notify the Chief 
Executive and, in the case of a councillor, the Council Leader, and will contact the 
Police and any other agency as appropriate. An allegation about the Designated 
Safeguarding Officer must be reported to the Chief Executive. 

78



23

The Council’s Code of Conduct and Disciplinary Policies are clear that the Council will 
always act quickly, if necessary moving the person to other appropriate duties or 
suspending them as a neutral act to enable a thorough and unbiased investigation. 
The employee will be made aware of their rights under employment legislation and 
any potential internal disciplinary procedures, and also provided with appropriate 
support internally and externally. A disciplinary investigation, and potentially a 
hearing, may follow and may result in informal or formal measures which may include 
dismissal and possibly referral to the Disclosure and Barring Service.

The Council will investigate unless there is compelling reason why this is inappropriate 
e.g. there is a serious conflict of interest, or concerns have been raised about non-
effective past enquiries, or there are serious, multiple concerns, or a matter requires 
investigation by the police. In such cases, the Council will seek an external person or 
agency to investigate (in line with NSAB guidelines, provided that they have had 
appropriate training). 

If an employee is dismissed or redeployed to a non-regulated activity following a 
safeguarding incident, or a person leaves their role (resignation, retirement) to avoid 
a disciplinary hearing when it is likely they would have been dismissed, the Council 
will always refer the case to the Disclosure and Barring Service.  

Complaints and Whistle Blowing

All staff, councillors, volunteers, contractors and consultants should use the Council’s 
Corporate Feedback and Whistle Blowing Policies if they are concerned about how a 
safeguarding issue has been dealt with. 

Audit and Quality Assurance

As a statutory agency, the Council is subject to a number of internal and external 
audits and quality assurance mechanisms to ensure compliance and effective practices 
in each of the areas covered by this policy and associated procedures. All audit 
recommendations will be integrated into a safeguarding action plan. Regular reports 
are made to the Council’s Management Team and Executive Member.  

Monitoring and Review

This Policy and its Procedures are fully reviewed every three years and signed off by 
the Strategic Safeguarding Board.  If any changes are needed in the interim e.g. 
resulting from changes to the law, national or local guidance, then the Policy and/or 
its procedures will be amended by the Designated Safeguarding Officer, agreed by 
Management Team and signed off by the Executive Member, with the decision 
recorded and published via a Decision Notice. All staff, councillors, volunteers, key 
contractors or consultants will be notified of any changes. All policy revisions will be 
dated and recorded at Appendix D.

79

https://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/3352/Code-of-Conduct
http://democracy.breckland.gov.uk/documents/s1245/Procedures%20-%20Cluster.pdf


24

Appendix A: Reporting

Safeguarding Reporting Procedure Flowchart

If you have immediate concerns for the safety of an individual call 
999 for an emergency response 

Start here if you have:

 A concern of abuse
 Disclosure of abuse made to you 
 Allegation of abuse made to you

Complete a Safeguarding Reporting Form

Does the concern, disclosure or 
allegation involve a member of 
staff or elected member?

NO YES

Make a referral as required below and 
contact a Designated Safeguarding Officer 
for support if needed. 

Record all actions on the Safeguarding 
Reporting Form and pass to a Designated 
Safeguarding Officer for scanning and 
secure storage

Inform Designated 
Safeguarding Lead or 
Deputies. If not available 
inform line manager. 

Lead will inform HR and 
Local Authority 
Designated Officer 
(LADO) if required.

Contact MASH (Multi-Agency 
Safeguarding Hub) for consultation if 
advice/guidance required (children and 
adults)

Decide not 
to refer to 
MASH

Make a referral to 
MASH 

Or contact the Early Help Team 
see if a family support process 
exists80



25

Appendix B     Advice and Support

Designated Safeguarding Officer
Maxine O’Mahony– Executive Director Strategy and Governance
Email:Maxine.Omahony@breckland-sholland.gov.uk
Tel 07787573444

Deputy Designated Safeguarding Officers 

Donna Hall – Licensing and Business support Manager
Email: donna.hall@breckland-sholland.gov.uk
Tel: 07866 810466

Sarah Wolstenholme-Smy – Legal Services Manager
Email:sarah.wolstenholme-smy@breckalnd.gov.uk
Tel 07970 248422

Safeguarding Officer

Name: Elley Horne
Email: elley.horne@breckland-sholland.gov.uk mail

Norfolk Police - IN AN EMERGENCY CALL 999
Non emergency call, 101

Norfolk County Council Customer Services Centre: 
Tele – 0344 800 8020 ( Monday to Friday 9am – 5pm)

Children ( Contact: Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub ( MASH) )
0344 800 8020

Adults ( Contact MASH) 
As above

L.A.D.O – Local Authority Designated Officer
Email - LADO@norfolk.gov.uk   or  cs.norfolkLADOsecure@norfolk.gcsx.gov.uk.
Deals with allegations against staff working with children and young people.

Childline - free helpline for children and young people in the UK to talk about any 
problem 0800 1111 or www.childline.org.uk 

Samaritans - Tel: 08457 90 90 90 or Text Phone (for deaf or hearing impaired) 08457 
90091092 or  http://www.samaritans.org

The Hideout - information for children who witness or are injured through domestic 
abuse www.thehideout.org.uk 

Child Exploitation and Online Protection Centre www.ceop.police.uk 

81

mailto:LADO@norfolk.gov.uk
mailto:cs.norfolkLADOsecure@norfolk.gcsx.gov.uk
http://www.childline.org.uk/
http://www.samaritans.org/
http://www.thehideout.org.uk/
http://www.ceop.police.uk/


26

Information on internet safety and safe surfing for young people 
www.thinkuknow.co.uk 

Kidscape 08451 205 204 (parents bullying helpline) https://www.kidscape.org.uk

82

http://www.thinkuknow.co.uk/


27

APPENDIX C       LEGISLATION AND GUIDANCE 

The Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974

The Children Act 1989

Housing Act 1996

The Police Act 1997

Human Rights Act 1998

The Data Protection Act 2018

Crime and Disorder Act 1998

The Protection of Children Act 1999

Criminal Justice and Court Services Act 2000

Care Standards Act 2000

No Secrets: Guidance on protecting vulnerable adults in care 2000

Education Act 2002
  
Sexual Offences Act 2003  

Protection of Vulnerable Adults Scheme 2004

Domestic Violence Crime and Victims Act 2004

The Children Act 2004

Mental Capacity Act 2005

Childcare Act 2006

Safeguarding Vulnerable Groups Act 2006

Mental Health Act 2007

Information Sharing: Guidance for Practitioners and Managers 2008

The Equality Act 2010

Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011

Working Together to Safeguard Children 2013 
 
The Care Act 2014

Care Act Statutory Guidance 2015

Working Together to Safeguard Children 2015

Care and Support Statutory Guidance

FGM Mandatory Reporting

83

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1974/53/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/41/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/52/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1997/50/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/42/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2018/12/pdfs/ukpga_20180012_en.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/37/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1999/14/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/43/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/14/contents
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/194272/No_secrets__guidance_on_developing_and_implementing_multi-agency_policies_and_procedures_to_protect_vulnerable_adults_from_abuse.pdf
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2002/32/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/42/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/28/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2005/9/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/21/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/47/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2007/12/contents
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/417696/Archived-information_sharing_guidance_for_practitioners_and_managers.pdf
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/13/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/23/contents
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/care-act-statutory-guidance/care-and-support-statutory-guidance
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/592101/Working_Together_to_Safeguard_Children_20170213.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/care-act-statutory-guidance/care-and-support-statutory-guidance
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/573782/FGM_Mandatory_Reporting_-_procedural_information_nov16_FINAL.pdf


28

Appendix D Safeguarding Policy and Procedures Version Control

Version 
Serialisation

Reason Amended by:

Position and Date

Approved 
by: Position 
and Date

Published 
and Effective 
From:

1.0 Draft

84



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Councillor Gordon Bambridge Executive Member for Growth

To: Council 24th January 2019

Author: Susan Heinrich, Neighbourhood Planning Co-Ordinator

Subject: Croxton, Brettenham & Kilverstone Joint Neighbourhood Plan - 
Making (adoption) of the Croxton, Brettenham & Kilverstone Joint 
Neighbourhood Plan 

Purpose: To "make" the Croxton, Brettenham & Kilverstone Joint 
Neighbourhood Plan as part of the statutory Development Plan for 
Breckland and update the district policies map with the relevant 
policies.

Recommendation(s): That Full Council agrees:

1) To confirm that Croxton, Brettenham & Kilverstone Joint  Neighbourhood Plan, as 
written at the time of the referendum, is “made” as part of the statutory Development 
Plan for Breckland Council, as required by paragraph (4)(a) of section 38A of the Town 
and Country Planning Act (Option1)

2) To publish this decision as required by paragraph (9) of section 38A of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 

3) To advise Croxton, Brettenham & Kilverstone Joint Parish Councils and any other 
prescribed persons about this, to meet the requirements of paragraph (10) of section 
38A of the Town and Country Planning Act 

4) To amend the Breckland district policies map to meet the requirements of paragraph 9 
Town and Country (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 The Localism Act 2011 introduced the concept of Neighbourhood Planning.  This 
includes the option for Town and Parish Council’s to prepare statutory 
Neighbourhood Plans which set out a vision, objectives, policies and proposals to 
guide the future development of their local area.  The Croxton, Brettenham & 
Kilverstone Joint Neighbourhood Plan Area was designated in July 2014 and has 
been subsequently been subject to two rounds of formal public consultation, 
followed by an independent examination.  Following the examination, a further 
public consultation was held on the Council’s decision not to accept one of the 
Examiners recommendations.  This resulted in an amendment to the south eastern 
section boundary of the Croxton Identified Protected Areas (IPA).  

1.2 This report relates to the final stage in the process which is to ‘make’ (adopt) the 
Plan to bring the document into effect.  

85

Agenda Item 13



1.3 The plan’s preparation has been guided by the provisions of the Localism Act 2011 
(which amended the Town and Country Planning Act 1990), the Neighbourhood 
Planning (General) Regulations 2012 (as amended) and the Neighbourhood 
Planning (Referendum) Regulations 2012 (as amended).  

1.4 Furthermore, as a result of the Neighbourhood Planning Act 2017, a post-
examination Neighbourhood Plan will need to be taken into account when making 
decisions on planning applications in the local area.  

1.5 The Croxton, Brettenham & Kilverstone Neighbourhood Plan is the fourth in 
Breckland to have reached this final stage in the process, and would become one of 
over 700 plans to be formally made nationally. 

Examination and Referendum

1.6 The Croxton, Brettenham & Kilverstone Neighbourhood Plan was subject to an 
Independent Examination held between April and July 2018.  The Examiner found 
that subject to modifications being made to all the policies, the plan met the ‘basic 
conditions’ and recommended that it proceed to a local referendum.

Breckland Council considered all of the individual modifications and the reasons for 
them and supported all but one.  This concerned the examiners modified boundary 
of the Croxton Identified Protected Areas (IPA).  Further information was received 
from the Parish Council that indicated that the Examiner had not considered a 
defensible feature on the ground that the IPA boundary could have been logically 
drawn along.  As such, the Council did not accept this particular examiners change 
and proposed a modification. 

1.7 As required by regulations, this change was subject to a further modification 
consultation carried out between September and October 2018.  No objections 
were received to it during this time.  The decision to hold the referendum was 
confirmed on 6th November 2018 and arrangements made for the referendum 
process for Neighbourhood Plans to being as set out in the Neighbourhood 
Planning (Referendum) Regulations 2012 (as amended).

1.8 Paragraph 4 of these Regulations prescribes the requirements for the dates and 
documents that need to be published to hold a referendum.  As required, the 
Information Statement and Specified Documents were published on the Council’s 
Neighbourhood Planning website page on the 27th November 2018 and the Notice 
of Referendum was published on the Electoral Services website page on the 30th 
November 2018. 

1.9 The Specified Documents included the following:

 The Croxton, Brettenham & Kilverstone Neighbourhood Development Plan;
 Report of the Independent Examiner;
 A Summary of the representations submitted to the independent examiner;
 A Statement by the Local Planning Authority that the draft plan meets the 

basic conditions and complies with the relevant legislation;
 A statement that sets out general information about town and country 

planning including neighbourhood planning and the referendum.

86



Making the plan

1.10 The Neighbourhood Plan referendum was held on the 10th January 2019.  The 
turnout was 31%, of which 89.8% (194) voted in favour of using the Plan to help 
decide planning applications in the neighbourhood area and 10.2% (22) voted 
against. 

1.11 Under paragraph (4)(a) of section 38A of the Town and Country Planning Act, when 
considering to “make” a neighbourhood plan, where “…more than half of those 
voting to have voted in favour of the plan …”, then it must be “made”, or in other 
words there is a legal duty to bring the plan into force.  Also as a result of the 
Neighbourhood Planning Act 2017, this is when the Neighbourhood Plan is formally 
confirmed in status as part of the statutory ‘Development Plan’ for the area.

1.12 However, this would not be the case if under paragraph (6) of the Act, the local 
planning authority considers that it would be incompatible with any European Union 
obligations or Human Rights conventions.  These issues were considered to have 
been met by the independent examiner as part of their assessment of the ‘basic 
conditions’, one of which is that the plan may not breach any EU obligations or any 
Human Rights obligation.

1.13 There is also a requirement in the regulations under paragraphs 9 and 10, section 
38A of the Town and Country Planning Act, to publicise and inform relevant persons 
about the decision that has been made.  This is repeated under Regulation 19 of 
the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012. 

Other actions

1.14 The Town and Country (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 outlines what 
the adopted policies map must include and contain.  Especially under 9 (c) there is 
a requirement to “ … illustrate geographically the application of the policies in the 
adopted development plan”.  As set out above, the Neighbourhood Plan reaching 
this point has the status of a “Development Plan”.  As such, the Council’s Policies 
Map inset for Croxton, Brettenham & Kilverstone will be updated to show relevant 
policies with spatial extents.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 There are two options for members to consider:

 Option 1 - Council agrees to “make” the Croxton, Brettenham & Kilverstone 
Neighbourhood Plan and is “made” as part of the statutory Development Plan for 
Breckland Council, as required by paragraph (4)(a) of section 38A of the Town 
and Country Planning Act as “…more than half of those voting to have voted in 
favour of the plan …”, and to undertake the required publication, advise the 
Town Council and other prescribed persons and subsequently update the district 
policies map. 

 Option 2 - Council does not make the Croxton, Brettenham & Kilverstone 
Neighbourhood Plan where “…it considers that the Plan would breach, or would 
otherwise be incompatible with any EU obligation or any of the Convention 

87



Rights (within the meaning of the Human Rights Act 1998).” 

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 It is recommended that Members endorse Option 1 as there was a positive vote in 
favour for making the Croxton, Brettenham & Kilverstone Neighbourhood Plan 
through a referendum and there is considered to be compliance with, rather than 
being incompatible, with European obligations and Human Rights conventions.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 The main benefit to “making” or agreeing the Croxton, Brettenham & Kilverstone 
Neighbourhood Plan is that it is the last stage in the production of the plan and it will 
enable the plan to form part of the statutory “Development Plan”, thereby allowing 
the policies to be used in the determination of planning applications in the 
Neighbourhood Area.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

5.1.1  It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications. 

5.2 Constitution & Legal

5.2.1 The Croxton, Brettenham & Kilverstone Neighbourhood Plan is “made”, and this 
decision is published and relevant persons advised under the requirements 
(paragraph (4)(a); (9) and (10)) of section 38A of the Town and Country Planning 
Act.  Also the district policies map is amended under paragraph of the 9 Town and 
Country (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012.

5.2.2 Once “made” the Croxton, Brettenham & Kilverstone Neighbourhood Plan will form 
part of the statutory “Development Plan” for the Breckland District.  Under section 
38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, this requires that “...for 
the purpose of any determination to be made under the planning Acts the 
determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.”  

5.3 Contracts

5.1.2  It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications. 

5.4 Corporate Priorities

5.4.1 The Croxton, Brettenham & Kilverstone Neighbourhood Plan meets the following 
corporate priorities:

 Supporting Breckland to develop and thrive
 Developing the local economy to be vibrant with continued growth
 Enabling stronger, more independent communities.

5.5 Crime and Disorder 

88



5.5.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications. 

5.6 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

5.6.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.7 Financial 

5.7.1 The costs for the activities associated with making the plan are covered by the 
Local Plan production budget. 

5.8 Health & Wellbeing

5.8.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.9 Risk Management 

5.9.1 The risk of not approving this Neighbourhood Development Plan would mean that 
the council would be in breach of its legal duty.

5.10 Safeguarding

5.10.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.11 Staffing

5.11.1 There are no direct implications arising from this report. 

5.12 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.12.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications in relation to this 
report.  The Plan has been subject to a range of public consultation including two 
required consultation stages (Regulation 14 and 16) of the Neighbourhood Planning 
(General) Regulations 2012 (as amended).

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 The Neighbourhood Plan area falls within the Forest Ward.

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Susan Heinrich, Neighbourhood Planning Co-Ordinator
Telephone Number: 01362 656841
Email: Susan.Heinrich@breckland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No 
Exempt Decision: No 
This report refers to a Mandatory Service 
Appendices attached to this report:  Appendix A – Croxton, Brettenham & Kilverstone 
Neighbourhood Plan

89


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	4 Chairman's Announcements
	8 Cabinet Minutes
	Minutes

	9 Overview and Scrutiny Commission
	Minutes

	10a 26 November 2018
	Minutes

	10b 17 December 2018
	Minutes

	11 Governance & Audit Committee
	Minutes

	12 Safeguarding Policy (for information)
	Appendix A Safeguarding Policy

	13 Croxton, Brettenham & Kilverstone Joint Neighbourhood Plan - Making (adoption) of the Croxton, Brettenham & Kilverstone Joint Neighbourhood Plan

